CONFIDENTIAL

Energy-Efficient Self-Timed Zero-Crossing-Based Incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC

Chao Chen

EEMCS

MSCCONFIDENTIAL

Energy-Efficient Self-Timed Zero-Crossing-Based Incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC

MASTER OF SCIENCE THESIS

For the degree of Master of Science in Microelectronics at Delft University of Technology

Chao Chen

November 29, 2012

Faculty of Electrical Engineering, Mathematics and Computer Science \cdot Delft University of Technology



Copyright $\ensuremath{\mathbb O}$ Electrical Engineering. All rights reserved.

Delft University of Technology Department of Electrical Engineering

The undersigned hereby certify that they have read and recommend to the Faculty of Electrical Engineering, Mathematics and Computer Science for acceptance a thesis entitled

Energy-Efficient Self-Timed Zero-Crossing-Based Incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC

by

Chao Chen in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE MICROELECTRONICS

Dated: November 29, 2012

Supervisor(s):

Dr.ir.Michiel Pertijs

Zhichao Tan, M.Sc.

 $\operatorname{Reader}(s)$:

Prof.Dr.Kofi Makinwa

Dr.ir.Michiel Pertijs

Dr.R.Bogdan Staszewksi

Zhichao Tan, M.Sc.

Abstract

This thesis presents the world's first clock-free self-timed incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC. Unlike conventional $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs, it does not require a dedicated clock signal, thus saving energy and reducing system complexity. It is particularly suited for use in energy-constrained sensor applications in which conversions are triggered by infrequent and possibly irregular external events. As it autonomously powers down upon completion of a conversion, it can adapt to a wide range of conversion rates in an energy-efficient way. Moreover, its conversion time automatically adjusts to PVT variations, eliminating the need to design for worst-case conditions, as typically required in synchronous designs.

In contrast to asynchronous $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs, which also operate without a clock, our self-timed $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC employs a discrete-time switched-capacitor loop filter and a clocked comparator, albeit self-timed, and therefore maintains the same noise-shaping characteristics as conventional, synchronous incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs. Zero-crossing based (ZCB) circuits are employed to implement the loop-filter's integrators, in which the completion of charge-transfer process can be detected by a zero-crossing detector (ZCD). An inverter-based ZCD is introduced to further improve the energy-efficiency of ZCB designs.

A prototype ADC has been implemented in NXP's 1P6M 0.16 μ m CMOS process to prove the concept. It includes the whole $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator, as well as the timing-critical part of the asynchronous digital state machine. Measurement results show that it can achieve 14.8-bit resolution and 14-bit linearity, with 500 incremental cycles. While operating, the whole chip consumes less than 20 μ A from a 1V supply.

Keywords: Incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC, Self-timed, Zero-crossing-based circuits, Energy-efficient, Low-power

Table of Contents

xiii

1	Intr	roduction	1
	1-1	Motivation	. 1
	1 - 2	Challenge and Solution	. 5
	1-3	Objectives	. 8
	1-4	Thesis Organization	. 8
2	Zer	o-Crossing Based Switched-Capacitor Integrator	11
	2-1	Basic Operation Principle	. 12
	2-2	Noise in ZCB Switched-Capacitor Integrator	. 15
		2-2-1 Thermal Noise in the Zero-Crossing Detector	. 16
		2-2-2 Flicker Noise	. 20
		2-2-3 Other Noise Sources	. 22
	2-3	Error Sources in ZCB Switched-Capacitor Integrator	. 23
		2-3-1 Offset	. 23
		2-3-2 Non-Linearity	. 26
	2-4	Prior Work	. 29
	2-5	Advanced Circuit Topologies for ZCB Switched-capacitor Circuits	. 31
		2-5-1 Early-Threshold Detection	. 31
		2-5-2 Correlated Level Shifting	. 33
	2-6	Summary	. 37
3	Ene	ergy-Efficient Inverter-Based Zero-Crossing Detector	39
	3-1	Motivation	. 39
	3-2	Control of Common-mode Voltage	. 43
	3-3	Overview of Inverter-Based Analog Circuitry	. 43
Ma	aster c	of Science Thesis CONFIDENTIAL Cha	o Chen

Acknowledgements

	3-4	Inverte	r-Based Zero-Crossing Detector	45
		3-4-1	Topology	45
		3-4-2	Operational Principle	46
		3-4-3	Further Improvement: Dynamic Power-Down	48
	3-5	Non-ide	eal Effects	49
		3 - 5 - 1	Parasitic Capacitors	49
		3-5-2	Power Supply Noise Rejection	51
	3-6	Summa	ary	54
4	\mathbf{Self}	-timed	Incremental $\Delta \Sigma$ ADC	55
	4-1	Increm	ental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC	55
		4-1-1	Basic Principle	56
		4-1-2	$\Delta\Sigma$ Modulator Design	58
		4-1-3	Decimation Filter Deisgn	61
		4-1-4	Circuit Implementations	63
	4-2	Self-Ti	med Operation	64
		4-2-1	Asynchronous State-Machine	64
		4-2-2	Self-Timed Logic Elements	67
	4-3	Summa	ary	70
5	Pro	totype	Chip	71
5	Pro 5-1	totype System	Chip I-Level Design	71 71
5	Pro 5-1 5-2	totype System Implem	Chip I-Level Design	71 71 72
5	Pro 5-1 5-2	totype System Implem 5-2-1	Chip -Level Design	71 71 72 73
5	Pro 5-1 5-2	totype System Implem 5-2-1 5-2-2 5-2-2	Chip h-Level Design hentation of Sub-Blocks Zero-crossing Detectors with Early-threshold Detection Gated Current Sources with CLS Bit Decision Comparator	71 71 72 73 74 74
5	Pro 5-1 5-2	totype System Implem 5-2-1 5-2-2 5-2-3	Chip I-Level Design	71 71 72 73 74 74
5	Pro 5-1 5-2	totype System Implem 5-2-1 5-2-2 5-2-3 5-2-4	Chip I-Level Design nentation of Sub-Blocks Zero-crossing Detectors with Early-threshold Detection Gated Current Sources with CLS Bit-Decision Comparator Biasing Circuit Cleab Detection	71 71 72 73 74 74 75 75
5	Pro 5-1 5-2	totype System Implem 5-2-1 5-2-2 5-2-3 5-2-4 5-2-5	Chip h-Level Design hentation of Sub-Blocks Zero-crossing Detectors with Early-threshold Detection Gated Current Sources with CLS Bit-Decision Comparator Biasing Circuit Clock Boosting f	71 71 72 73 74 74 75 76
5	Pro 5-1 5-2 5-3	totype System Implem 5-2-1 5-2-2 5-2-3 5-2-3 5-2-4 5-2-5 Design	Chip In-Level Design Inentation of Sub-Blocks Inentation of Sub-Blocks Zero-crossing Detectors with Early-threshold Detection Inentation of Sub-Blocks Gated Current Sources with CLS Bit-Decision Comparator Inentation Comparator <td>71 71 72 73 74 74 75 76 78</td>	71 71 72 73 74 74 75 76 78
5	Pro 5-1 5-2 5-3 5-4	totype System Implem 5-2-1 5-2-2 5-2-3 5-2-4 5-2-5 Design Layout	Chip I-Level Design	71 72 73 74 74 75 76 78 80
5	Pro 5-1 5-2 5-3 5-4 5-5	totype System Implem 5-2-1 5-2-2 5-2-3 5-2-3 5-2-4 5-2-5 Design Layout Summa	Chip I-Level Design	 71 71 72 73 74 74 75 76 78 80 81
5	Pro 5-1 5-2 5-3 5-4 5-5 Exp	totype System Implem 5-2-1 5-2-2 5-2-3 5-2-4 5-2-5 Design Layout Summa	Chip I-Level Design	 71 71 72 73 74 74 75 76 78 80 81 83
5	Pro 5-1 5-2 5-3 5-4 5-5 Exp 6-1	totype System Implem 5-2-1 5-2-2 5-2-3 5-2-3 5-2-4 5-2-5 Design Layout Summa Measur	Chip I-Level Design nentation of Sub-Blocks Zero-crossing Detectors with Early-threshold Detection Gated Current Sources with CLS Bit-Decision Comparator Biasing Circuit Clock Boosting for Testability ury ary ment Setup	 71 71 72 73 74 74 75 76 78 80 81 83 83
5	Pro 5-1 5-2 5-3 5-4 5-5 Exp 6-1 6-2	totype System Implem 5-2-1 5-2-2 5-2-3 5-2-4 5-2-5 Design Layout Summa Measur Measur	Chip I-Level Design	 71 71 72 73 74 74 75 76 78 80 81 83 83 84
5	Pro 5-1 5-2 5-3 5-4 5-5 Exp 6-1 6-2	totype System Implem 5-2-1 5-2-2 5-2-3 5-2-4 5-2-5 Design Layout Summa Measur Measur 6-2-1	Chip I-Level Design	 71 71 72 73 74 74 75 76 78 80 81 83 83 84 84
5	Pro 5-1 5-2 5-3 5-4 5-5 Exp 6-1 6-2	totype System Implem 5-2-1 5-2-2 5-2-3 5-2-4 5-2-5 Design Layout Summa Measur Measur 6-2-1 6-2-2	Chip I-Level Design I	71 71 72 73 74 74 75 76 78 80 81 83 83 84 83 84 84 85
5	Pro 5-1 5-2 5-3 5-4 5-5 Exp 6-1 6-2	totype System Implem 5-2-1 5-2-2 5-2-3 5-2-4 5-2-5 Design Layout Summa Measur 6-2-1 6-2-2 6-2-3	Chip I-Level Design	71 71 72 73 74 74 75 76 78 80 81 83 83 83 83 84 84 85 87
5	Pro 5-1 5-2 5-3 5-4 5-5 Exp 6-1 6-2	totype System Implem 5-2-1 5-2-2 5-2-3 5-2-4 5-2-5 Design Layout Summa Measur 6-2-1 6-2-2 6-2-3 6-2-4	Chip -Level Design	71 71 72 73 74 74 75 76 78 80 81 83 83 84 83 83 84 85 87 87

Chao Chen

CONFIDENTIAL

Master of Science Thesis

7	Conclusion 7-1 Thesis Contribution 7-2 Future Work	91 91 92
A	Testboard Design	95
	Bibliography	97
	Glossary	105
	List of Acronyms	105
	List of Symbols	106

List of Figures

1-1	First-order $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator with OTA-based switched-capacitor integrator $~$	2
1-2	Timing diagram and circuit operation of first-order $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator \ldots .	2
1-3	(a) Block diagram of asynchronous $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator with time quantization (b) Time-domain signal-processing diagram of duty-cycle modulation	4
1-4	Principle of self-timed operation in mixed-signal circuits	5
1-5	(a) Block diagram of Self-timed SAR ADC (b) Timing diagram of asynchronous SA-algorithm processing	6
1-6	Charge-transfer mechanism: (a) Exponential settling (b) Current-source driven linear approaching with completion detection	6
1-7	Block diagram of a self-timed 2nd-order incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC \ldots	7
1-8	System-level timing diagram of Self-timed operation	7
2-1	(a) OTA-based switched-capacitor integrator (b) ZCB switched-capacitor inte- grator	12
2-2	2-phase timing of ZCB switched-capacitor integrator in synchronous mode (P : Preset; E_1 : coarse phase; E_2 : fine phase; R : redundancy)	12
2-3	Bidirectional charge-transfer process of conventional zero-crossing based switched- capacitor integrator	13
2-4	Noise-induced jitter in zero-crossing-based switched-capacitor integrator (V_X : virtual ground node voltage; V_{ZCD} : output voltage of the ZCD)	15
2-5	(a) Typical structure of zero-crossing detector; (b) Small-signal model of the preamplifier at the instant of threshold crossing	17
2-6	Equivalent noise bandwidth of the ZCD preamplifier	20
2-7	General operation principle of auto-zeroing process	22
2-8	Effect of zero-crossing detector overshoots (a) Equivalent circuit topology in fine phase (b) Waveform on virtual ground V_X and integrator output V_O during fne phase charging $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	24
2-9	Effect of voltage-drop on series switches during charge-transfer process	25

	Master	of	Science	Thesis
--	--------	----	---------	--------

Chao Chen

2-10	(a) Typical topology of gated current source in ZCB switched-capacitro inte- grator(b) ZCB switched-capacitor integrator output voltage swing	27
2-11	Feedback schemes in ZCB switched-capacitor integrator (a) feedback in sampling phase (b) feedback in charge-transfer phase	28
2-12	Topology of feedback-included ZCB integrator during charge-transfer process	29
2-13	Opamp-assisted charge-transfer waveform on virtual ground node (a) ACBSC topology [1] (b) Hybrid opamp/ZCB topology [2]	30
2-14	Conceptual illustration of bidirectional and unidirectional charging scheme. Ramp-rates in coarse phase and fine phase are identical in both schemes	32
2-15	Illustration of voltage spikes during phase transition. (a) Bidirectional charge- transfer scheme (b) Unidirectional charge-transfer scheme	33
2 - 16	(a) Circuit realization of early-threshold detection. (b) Timing diagram \ldots	34
2-17	Topology of correlated level shifting circuit in ZCB integrator (only show charge-transfer phase)	34
2-18	Working Process of correlated level shifting in ZCB integrator (in charge-transfer phase)	35
2-19	Timing diagram of correlated level shifting with unidirectional charging scheme	36
3-1	(a) Basic CMOS inverter topology (b) The DC gain and gain-bandwidth prod- uct (GBW) of CMOS inverters in static mode as a function of the biasing current I_0 [3]	40
3-2	The current-efficiency of MOSFETs in weak inversion and strong inversion	40
3-3	(a) Inverter in unit-gain configuration (b) Voltage scale	41
3-4	Small-signal model of an inverter-based transconductance amplifier in the steady- state	42
3-5	Different common-mode voltage control schemes in inverter-based analog cir- cuits [4] (a) Replica inverters in unit-gain configuration for reference voltage generation (b) Auto-zeroed inverter-amplifier	44
3-6	Some modified inverter-based amplifier structures: (a) Cascode inverter-amplifier (b) Cascaded frequency-compensated inverter-amplifier [6]	$[5] \\ 45$
3-7	Topology of simplified inverter-based zero-crossing detector	46
3-8	Operation principle of auto-zeroed inverter	47
3-9	(a)Preamplifier output voltage (b) Current flowing in the preamplifier inverter	48
3-10	(a)Implementation of dynamic powered-down ZCD (b) Timing diagram of dy- namic power-down	49
3-11	Parasitic capacitors in inverter-based ZCB integrator	50
3-12	Estimation of power supply rejection ratio of steady-state inverter-based amplifier $(R_{\rm p} \approx R_{\rm n})$	51
3-13	Power supply noise in a second-order Boser-Wooley $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator [7]	52
3-14	Simulated power supply gain (the inverse of PSRR in dB number) of a ZCB integrator utilizing inverter-based ZCD and CLS technique	53
3-15	Current-starved inverter-based transconductance amplifiers $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	54
4-1	Block diagram of a first-order incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC \ldots	56

Chao Chen

Master of Science Thesis

4-2	Block diagram of a higher-order incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC [8]	57
4-3	Block diagram of a second-order Boser-Wooley modulator	58
4-4	Behavior of the second-order incremental Boser-Wooley $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator based on MATLAB simulations. (a) Row-1: quantization error versus normalized input range (14-bit scale, 500 cycles); (b): output range of the first analog in- tegrator versus normalized input range; (c): output range of the second analog integrator versus normalized input range	60
4-5	Block diagram of a second-order Boser-Wooley modulator with a input-feedforware path.	d 61
4-6	Behavior of the second-order incremental Boser-Wooley $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator with a input feedforward path based on MATLAB simulations. (a): quantization error versus normalized input range (14-bit scale, 500 cycles); (b): output range of the first analog integrator versus normalized input range; (c): output range of the second analog integrator versus normalized input range.	62
4-7	Block diagram of a back-end digital filter and a decimator corresponding to (4-14)	63
4-8	Circuit implementation of the proposed second-order incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator	64
4-9	2-phase timing principle of a self-timed zero-crossing based $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator.	65
4-10	Block diagram of the proposed self-timed incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC with an asynchronous state-machine.	66
4-11	Timing diagram of the proposed self-timed incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC \ldots	66
4-12	Basic handshaking element used for self-timed mixed-signal system (a) Macro model (b) Truth table (c) Implementation example	67
4-13	General principle of handshaking operation in self-timed mixed-signals systems using the proposed logic element	68
4-14	Logic implementation for the generation of charging phase control signals (a) Coarse phase control (b) Fine phase control	69
4-15	Logic implementation for the generation of Φ_{1_CT} (The δ -block represents the preset delay element)	69
4-16	Circuit diagram of a low power tunable delay element for preset time-slot gen- eration [9]	70
5-1	Schematic of the zero-crossing detector with early-threshold detection	73
5-2	Schematic of the gate current source with correlated leveling shifting	74
5-3	Schematic of the dynamic bit-decision comparator	75
5-4	Schematic of the reference biasing current generator and the associated start-up circuit.	77
5-5	Schematic of single-output clock booster [10]	77
5-6	Schematic of the clock booster with double outputs	78
5-7	Schematic of the analog output buffer for internal-node probing $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	79
5-8	(a) Schematic of the configuration shift-register (b) Operation timing diagram	80
5-9	Layout of the prototype ADC in 0.16 μ m 1P6M CMOS	82
6-1	Experimental Setup	84
Master of	f Science Thesis CONFIDENTIAL Chao C	Chen

6-2	Die microphotograph with identifications of key areas $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	85
6-3	Measured FFT of 2^{16} -point bitstream with Kaiser window (frequency normal- ized to the average sampling frequency 750kHz).	86
6-4	Measured ADC Resolution as a function of the number of cycles M	86
6-5	Measured INL and conversion time as function of input voltage \hdots	88
A-1	Testboard Layout and Components.	96

List of Tables

1-1	Design Targets of Prototype Incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ Self-timed ADC	8
2-1	Noise Sources in Charge-transfer Process	15
2-2	Performance Table of Prior CBSC/ZCB $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC \ldots	31
5-1	Design parameters and performance of the inverter-based preamplifiers in the ZCDs	74
5-2	Contents of the 22-Bit Command Word	81
6-1	Performance Summary	89

Acknowledgements

I am deeply grateful to all the people who, in one way or another, have helped me during my master thesis project. Without the support of others, it would have been impossible for me to reach this stage.

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere thanks to my supervisor, Dr.ir. Michiel Pertijs, for all the help and guidance he has given me; I have learned a great deal from him, especially his serious working attitude and rigorous scholarship as being an enthusiastic analog circuit designer. I am deeply impressed by his unlimited creativity and inspirations for analog and mixed-signal circuits. Back in the summer, 2011, when Michiel first proposed his conception of the self-timed incremental ADC to me, my mind was filled with only one thought: What a talented idea! Moreover, I would like to thank him for the great efforts he has made before the submission of our ISSCC paper; without his help, it would have been impossible for me to catch up that deadline. I would like to thank him for carefully reading the thesis manuscript and the resulting valuable comments. Most importantly, he is the tutor who equips me the enthusiasm and motivation to continue my research in the world of mixed-signal integrated circuits after graduation.

Next, I would like to thank my daily supervisor Zhichao Tan, for his continuous support and encouragement throughout my master thesis project. He was always willing to share his knowledge and experience with me, from which I have learned a lot. What's more, his optimism and humor light up my life.

I am grateful to Zu-yao Chang, our kind-hearted and venerable technician. This work couldn't be completed without his great technical support, from the settings of cadence simulation environments to the measurement setup. Special thanks for his help in soldering the 144-pin FPGA!

I would like to express my gratitude to all my teachers in TU Delft who introduced me to the wonderful world of integrated circuits. Specially, I would like to thank Prof. Kofi Makinwa for teaching me how to design a delta-sigma modulator. I also want to thank Marcel Pelgrom, who let me recognize the elegance of analog-to-digital converters.

My sincere thanks also go to the colleagues in the EI laboratory. I would like to thank Zili for giving me valuable guidance in both research and personal life, and for helping me get started in the field of ultrasounics during IUS2012. I want to thank Ruimin for his valuable help in the programming of the Labview interface, and the cooperation throughout the whole

design season. I also want to thank Dr. Youngcheol Chae, who gave me a lot of useful design suggestions in my architecture and design reviews. I also would like to thank Saleh for the wonderful technical discussions, and the kind help in my measurement days. The thanks also go to Kamran and Mina for their useful advices in the FPGA design.

I would like to express my gratitude to Joyce and Karen, our warm-hearted secretaries. Thanks for their help in my MSc thesis work and other matters, especially the supports in my house searching.

I would also like to thank all the people at EI for all the nice help and chatting.

I would like to thank my friends here. The thank goes to Xiaoliang for the cooperations on the courses in the first academic year of the MSc study, and also for sharing with me the ups and downs everyday; your persistence of dreams inspires me to move forward in my life. Thanks also go to Ajit, Umanath, Yuhui Peng, Bihao Song, Dong Liu, Yifan Jia, Yang Sun etc. for the help and the fun during the two-year study on Microelectronics in TU Delft.

Lastly, I would like to thank my parents for all that they have done for me. Only with their support I could take the courage to study across the globe. Thank you for your continuous love, care and encouragements throughout my life.

Delft University of Technology November 29, 2012 Chao Chen

Chapter 1

Introduction

In instrumentation and measurement (I&M), analog-to-digital converter (ADC) are normally used in converting low-bandwidth signals with very high absolute accuracy and linearity. The incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC, which can be treated as a classical $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC running in transient mode, was found to be a well-suited structure for I&M applications in the last decade [11][12]. Most reported incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs are designed to operate with a dedicated constantly-running oversampled clock. That is, however, a significant overhead in some energy-constrained sensing applications, such as temperature and humidity sensors on RFID tags. This thesis proposes the first clock-free self-timed implementation of incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC to address this problem. Some special circuit techniques are introduced to further improve the ADC's energyefficiency while maintaining its performance. A prototype has been implemented to prove the concept and demonstrate the effectiveness of these techniques.

At the beginning of this introductory chapter, the motivation of this work are briefly described, as well as its relation to prior work. That is followed by a short discussion on the design challenge and the corresponding solution, as well as a system-level overview of the proposed self-timed ADC. Furthermore, the objective of this work is introduced. Finally, the organization of the thesis is given.

1-1 Motivation

The conventional implementation of discrete-time $\Delta\Sigma$ modulators, which is usually switchedcapacitor (SC) based, relies on external synchronous clocks to divide the time-axis into different phases. The clock events serve as time bases that determine the order of charge sampling and transfer in each stage of the modulator. All the transient processes in the analog circuitry should have settled before the next clock cycle starts; in other words, the circuitry has to be designed in order to ensure settling within the clock cycle, as will be shown in the following example.

Consider a simple first-order $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator with conventional OTA-based SC integrator, as shown in Figure 1-1. In this circuit, all the switches are driven by a pair of complementary

Master of Science Thesis



Figure 1-1: First-order $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator with OTA-based switched-capacitor integrator



Figure 1-2: Timing diagram and circuit operation of first-order $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator

phase clocks, Φ_1 and Φ_2 . Figure 1-2 illustrates the timing diagram and operation sequence.

In phase Φ_1 , the input voltage is sampled on the capacitor C_S . To obtain the desired settling accuracy, the duration time of Φ_1 should not be shorter than N times of the exponential settling time constant τ_1 :

$$T_{\Phi 1} > N \tau_1, \ \tau_1 = 2 r_{ON} C_S$$
 (1-1)

The parameter r_{ON} represents the on-resistance of series switches, while the value of N varies from 7 to 10 for settling accuracy range from 0.1% to 0.005%.

In phase Φ_2 , the charge sampled on C_S in Φ_1 is integrated on the capacitor C_I . Similarly, the minimum duration time of Φ_2 is given by:¹

$$T_{\Phi 2} > N\tau_2, \quad \tau_2 \simeq \frac{C_S}{g_m}$$
 (1-2)

where g_m is the transconductance of the OTA and N ranges from 7 to 10 as well.

CONFIDENTIAL

Master of Science Thesis

¹In this brief discussion the load capacitor at the integrator output is neglected for convenience.

Expressions (1-1) and (1-2) reveal the linking between clock periods and the speed constraint of analog circuits.

It is not difficult to explain the popularity of synchronous timing methodology in the design of $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs. The dedicated clocks provide a deterministic approach to control the events that take place in both analog and digital circuits, as well as ensuring the uniform and well-defined sampling of the input signal. From the design perspective, the clock period can be simply selected in line with the worst speed condition to ensure the settling accuracy. Therefore, the synchronous approach is widely accepted in a broad range of applications. Unfortunately, it also brings several problems, especially when the energy-efficiency is of concern:

• **Design redundancy**: As ADCs are normally designed to operate with a relatively wide range of environmental conditions, such as process, supply voltage and temperature (PVT), the impact of physical constraints on the circuit bandwidth should be fully considered. This usually leads to "over-design" since the synchronous clock period should be sufficiently long to satisfy the settling accuracy requirement of the worst case. For example, the on-resistance of switches r_{ON} and transconductance g_m in expressions (1-1) and (1-2) both vary with the process corners. This fact implies that the circuit should be assumed to operate with the slowest corner in the design phase, which however has very low probability in reality.

Obviously over-design has negative effects on the energy-efficiency. On the one hand, a larger transconductance (g_m) and hence more current are required to meet the specific frequency target; on the other hand, when the current budget is constrained, the OTAs should be kept operating in the active mode for longer, which increases the energy-dissipation as well.

- **System redundancy**: The external clock is normally generated using on/off chip oscillators or phase-locked loops (PLLs). These auxiliary timing circuits increase the system complexity; moreover, they consume power themselves. This is not energy-economical when the clock is only required for the ADC, for instance in wireless sensing and portable medical systems where only a small section of back-end digital processing circuits are locally implemented with the ADC.
- *Time redundancy*: In energy-constrained sensor applications, the conversions are often triggered by infrequent and possibly irregular events, like the threshold-crossing of input signals. For input signals with relatively low activity, a continuously running clock-network in over-sampling systems will keep burning power even in the idle time, which is not energy-efficient either.

To address the above problems, the most straightforward idea is to eliminate all the external clocks. One possible approach is to get rid of the entire timing control logic and, instead, to perform the $\Delta\Sigma$ modulation in a fully analog fashion. A well-known clock-less system based on this principle is the **asynchronous** $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator (ADSM). It has been extensively discussed in [13], [14] and [15], and employed in some applications where only analog processing is required. As shown in Figure 1-3, an ADSM converts an analog input signal u(t) into a continuous-time square-wave output signal y(t) via duty-cycle modulation. It

is essentially a free-running self-oscillator based on inherent limit-cycles. No clocked sampling or digitization is performed in the modulation loop, and consequently no quantization noise is introduced in.



Figure 1-3: (a) Block diagram of asynchronous $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator with time quantization (b) Time-domain signal-processing diagram of duty-cycle modulation

However, when applied in analog-to-digital conversion, the fully analog nature of ADSM becomes its main drawback. To provide a multi-bit digital output, an external sampler [15] or a time-to-digital converter (TDC) [16] is still called for at the output of the modulator to perform quantization on the time axis. External reference clocks are demanded for this step, and therefore an ADSM-based ADC is not truly clock-less.

A more suitable technique for ADC implementation is to replace the external clocks with local timing control logics driven by internal events in the analog circuits. This technique can be referred to as the **Mixed-signal Self-timed approach**, succeeding to its counterpart in the digital design domain [17][18]. In this approach, the analog circuitry must be able to generate a completion signal to the local timing logic once the on-going process (e.g. amplification, integration, comparison, etc.) completes. After that, the timing logic proceeds to the next cycle and the analog circuitry changes its state. The mixed-signal nature of ADC calls for special collaborations (or "hand-shaking") between the digital logic and the analog circuits, as indicated in Figure 1-4.

When compared with their synchronous counterparts, self-timed analog-to-digital converters show some appealing advantages:

• By removing the external clocks and the periphery circuits (e.g. oscillators and PLLs), the system and time redundancy problems can be avoided. The only expense is a small overhead on the timing control circuits which generate the local clocks and the completion signals.

Chao Chen



Figure 1-4: Principle of self-timed operation in mixed-signal circuits

• The generation of completion signal in analog circuitry takes the actual manufacturing and operating conditions into account. Thus, a self-timed converter can operate at the upper-limit speed adapting to the physical constraints such as process and temperature, which removes the "over-design" as well.

On the basis of the above discussions, we have reasons to believe that the self-timed methodology is particularly suited for analog-to-digital converters in energy-constrained sensing applications, especially the incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs. However, the implementation of self-timed ADCs is also associated with various challenges, as will be discussed in the next section.

1-2 Challenge and Solution

Up to now, to the author's knowledge, the mixed-signal self-timed approach has only found its application in succesive-approxiamation (SA) ADC. Asynchronous SA-algorithm processing has been introduced in [19][20] to reduce the system-level power consumption. Its basic idea is to trigger the internal comparison from the most significant bit (MSB) to the least significant bit (LSB) one by one, as indicated in Figure 1-5. The comparator has a dual function: 1) performs the comparison between input signal and the DAC output; 2) generates a completion signal for the current bit and triggers the next one. In this way, the comparison sequence becomes self-driven and no over-sampled internal clocks is needed.

In conventional OTA-based discrete-time $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs, however, the situation is a bit different. Due to the infinite approaching characteristic of an exponential settling process, there is no explicit "milestone" on the time-axis to indicate the completion of sampling or integration phases (Figure 1-6(a)). This feature prohibits the direct application of the self-timed methodology in $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs.

This problem can be solved by changing the charge-transfer mechanism. Zero-crossing based (ZCB) circuits [21] [22], in which the OTAs are replaced with tailored comparators (or zero-crossing detectors, ZCD) and gated current sources (GCS), offers such an option. Unlike conventional OTA-based switched-capacitor circuits, ZCB designs utilize gated current sources to transfer the charge from the sampling capacitors to the integration capacitors. The charge-transfer process continues until the virtual-ground condition is detected by the ZCD (Figure 1-6(b)). The detected instant of the virtual ground condition can be used as a



Figure 1-5: (a) Block diagram of Self-timed SAR ADC (b) Timing diagram of asynchronous SA-algorithm processing



Figure 1-6: Charge-transfer mechanism: (a) Exponential settling (b) Current-source driven linear approaching with completion detection

completion signal marking the end of the current phase, which provides the possibility for self-timed operation.

The block diagram shown in Figure 1-7 turns this idea into practice. It consists of a second-order discrete-time $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator controlled by an asynchronous state machine. The modulator employs two zero-crossing based integrators and a clocked quantizer. Details of the modulator structure and other circuit implementations will be discussed in the following chapters.

The basic principle of the self-timed operation can be explained by the system-level timing diagram as illustrated in Figure 1-8. An external startup signal triggers one conversion, after which the state machine generates a pair of non-overlapping clock signals Φ_1 and Φ_2 that alternately switch the integrators between sampling and charge-transfer phases. Each zero-crossing based integrator generates a completion signal once it accomplishes the chargetransfer process. At that instant, the state machine proceeds to the next phase. Thus, the duration time of clock phases Φ_2 (state A) and Φ_1 (state B) is determined by the chargetransfer time in the first and second integrator, respectively. The same process repeats for a preset number of cycles (N). After that the integration capacitors are reset, and all circuitry



Asynchronous State Machine

Figure 1-7: Block diagram of a self-timed 2nd-order incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC



Figure 1-8: System-level timing diagram of Self-timed operation

is powered down until the next conversion is requested.

Master of Science Thesis

1-3 Objectives

The aim of this thesis work is to implement the world's first purely self-timed incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC based on zero-crossing technique. As stated in previous sections, the self-timed characteristic is expected to improve the energy-efficiency of incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs in energy-constrained sensing applications. In addition, some attractive properties of ZCB designs, such as the amenability to scaled CMOS technologies [21], are also enjoyed by the proposed structure. Considering the inherent non-linearity problem of ZCB designs [22] [23][24], special circuit techniques are called for to improve its linearity performance.

Table 1-1 lists the targeted specifications of the prototype self-timed ADC. The supply voltage is chosen at 1V to demonstrate the low-supply-voltage capability of the proposed structure. The effective number of bits (ENOB), which is an ADC quality measure for both resolution and linearity, is aimed at 13bit~14bit to meet the absolute accuracy and linearity requirements of common DC sensing applications.

Specification	Target
Technology	NXP $0.16\mu m$ 1P6M CMOS
Supply Voltage	1V
ENOB	13~14 bit
Resolution	>14 bit
Conversion Time	<1ms
Power Consumption	$<\!20\mu W$
Figure of Merit $(FOM)^{\dagger}$	$<\!2pJ/conversion$ -step
[†] FOM = $\frac{\text{Power} \cdot T_{\text{conv}}}{2^{\text{ENOB}}}$	

Table 1-1: Design Targets of Prototype Incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ Self-timed ADC

1-4 Thesis Organization

This thesis presents the basic principles and circuit implementations of a self-timed incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC, which is apt for energy-constrained sensing applications. Apart from this introductory chapter, the rest of this thesis is divided into six chapters.

Chapter 2 discusses the basic operation principle of the zero-crossing based (ZCB) switchedcapacitor integrator, which is the most critical block in the self-timed $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC. This chapter also provides a detailed analysis of the non-ideal effects in zero-crossing based circuits, including noise, offset and non-linearity. Some advanced circuit topologies for ZCB circuits are also introduced to improve the performance of the basic structure.

Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 contain the main innovations of this thesis to improve the energy-efficiency of incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs. Chapter 3 proposes a new class of zero-crossing detectors based on class-AB inverters, as well as discusses its advantages and limitations. An overview on the development of inverter-based analog circuitry is also given in this chapter.

Chapter 4 describes the complete design of the self-timed incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC. The basic theory of incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC is briefly reviewed, after which the design considerations on the second-order modulator structure are presented. The implementation of the fully-custom self-timed state machine is also covered in this chapter.

Chapter 5 describes the design details of the experimental prototype chip. It starts with a topology overview and introduces the transistor-level implementation of the sub-blocks one by one. Some design techniques for testability and the layout details are also included.

Chapter 6 contains the details of the measurement results. A brief introduction to the measurement methods and setups is also included.

Finally, Chapter 7 summaries the contributions of this thesis and discusses some performance limitations of the proposed structure. Furthermore, potential directions in future work are highlighted.

Chapter 2

Zero-Crossing Based Switched-Capacitor Integrator

With the continuous down-scaling of CMOS technologies, the design of operational transconductance amplifiers (OTA) in traditional switched-capacitor circuits has become increasingly problematic. The main challenges come from the scaled supply voltage and the reduced intrinsic gain of transistors. Along with a variety of design efforts to maintain the performance of the OTA while consuming more power [25][26], recently a number of OTA-less methods have been developed to address the problem from a new perspective [27][28][7]. The zero-crossing based (ZCB) circuit, which was originally referred to comparator-based switchedcapacitor (CBSC) circuit, has gotten widespread attention after it was firstly introduced [29]. The well-known advantage of ZCB circuits is that the open-loop feature of zero-crossing detectors removes any stability concerns, which is energy-efficient because no frequency compensation is required for cascaded structures. Besides that, the charge-transfer mechanism in ZCB circuits is very different from that in traditional OTA-based switched-capacitor circuits. As will be shown in this thesis, it provides the potentia for purely self-timed operation in switched-capacitor circuits, especially in the switched-capacitor integrators of discrete-time $\Delta\Sigma$ modulators. Because of its importance, an intensive discussion on the zero-crossing based switched-capacitor integrators is given in this chapter.

As a start, the basic operation principle of the original ZCB/CBSC designs will be described first. Next, the non-ideal effects in ZCB switched-capacitor integrators are carefully investigated, including noise, offset and non-linearity. That is followed by a brief overview of prior work, mainly concerning the application of ZCB circuits in $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs. After that, some advanced topologies are introduced to address the linearity limitation and further improve the energy-efficiency. The chapter ends with a short summary. The self-timed operation will be addressed in Chapter 4.

Master of Science Thesis



Figure 2-1: (a) OTA-based switched-capacitor integrator (b) ZCB switched-capacitor integrator

2-1 Basic Operation Principle

Figure 2-1 illustrates the typical implementations of both OTA-based and zero-crossing based switched-capacitor integrators. The topology of the ZCB switched-capacitor integrator is similar to its OTA-based counterpart, except that a zero-crossing-detector (ZCD) and a pair of gated current sources takes the place of the OTA. The output decisions of the ZCD control the on/off states of the current sources via local logic gates.

Like in the OTA-based circuit (Figure 1-1), the ZCB switched-capacitor integrator operates in a cycle of two non-overlapping phases: a sampling phase (Φ_1) and a charge-transfer (or integration) phase (Φ_2). Figure 2-2 shows its timing diagram in synchronous mode. The sampling phase is identical with that in conventional switched-capacitor circuits, during which the input voltage is sampled on the sampling capacitor C_S .



Figure 2-2: 2-phase timing of ZCB switched-capacitor integrator in synchronous mode (P: Preset; E_1 : coarse phase; E_2 : fine phase; R: redundancy)

Chao Chen



Figure 2-3: Bidirectional charge-transfer process of conventional zero-crossing based switched-capacitor integrator

The charge-transfer phase of ZCB switched-capacitor integrator is, however, much more complicated. It can be divided in three successive sub-phases: preset (P), coarse phase (E_1) and fine phase (E_2) . The preset phase has a short but fixed duration time, while the periods of the coarse and fine phase are both signal-dependent. In synchronous mode, there may be an interval of redundant time (R) between the completion of the fine phase and the falling edge of the charge-transfer phase-clock.

Figure 2-3 shows the operation flow of bidirectional charge-transfer process in conventional ZCB switched-capacitor integrators, including the corresponding waveform and timing sequence. During the preset phase (Figure 2-3 (a)), the output node of the integrator V_O is pre-charged to the supply voltage V_{DD} , thereby setting the virtual ground node V_X to a initial voltage V_{X0} . As the precondition for the successive zero-crossing detection, V_{X0} should be preset above the common-mode voltage. Its value can be derived from the charge conservation

on V_X , as:

$$(V_{IN} - V_{CM})C_S + (V_O' - V_{CM})C_I = (V_{CM} - V_{X0})C_S + (V_{DD} - V_{X0})C_I$$
(2-1)

where V_{IN} is the input voltage and V_O' is the integrator output voltage before preset. Assuming that $V_{CM} = \frac{1}{2}V_{DD}$, V_{X0} can be defined by the following equation:

$$V_{X0} = \frac{(V_{DD} - V_{IN})C_S + (\frac{3}{2}V_{DD} - V_O')C_I}{C_S + C_I}$$
(2-2)

To ensure $V_{X0} \ge V_{CM}$, we have

$$\frac{V_{IN} - V_{CM}}{V_{DD} - V_{O}'} \geqslant \frac{C_I}{C_S} \Rightarrow \frac{V_{IN} - V_{CM}}{V_{DD} - V_{O}'} \geqslant \frac{1}{\beta}$$
(2-3)

where $\beta = C_S/C_I$ is the scaling factor of the integrator. This inequality gives an extra constraint condition on the input voltage range and the integrator output swing, which should be considered in the $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator design (Chapter 4).

After the preset, the coarse current source I_C is switched on (E_1) , discharging the capacitor network formed by C_S , C_I and C_L (integrator load). This process generates a rapid voltage ramp on nodes V_O and V_X . Once the zero-crossing detector recognizes the virtual ground condition ($V_X = V_{CM}$), the coarse current source is turned off immediately and the coarse phase charge-transfer is finished.

However, due to the finite response time of the zero-crossing detector and the steep ramp rate, there will be a large overshoot on V_X . To make a more accurate detection of the virtual ground condition, a fine current source I_F is turned on (E_2) right after the end of the coarse phase, recharging the capacitor network until the virtual ground condition is detected once again. The fine phase current is much smaller than the coarse phase current and of the opposite polarity, which results in a relatively small final overshoot (Figure 2-3 (d)). After the second virtual ground crossing, the charge-transfer from C_S to C_I is completed, and the corresponding voltage is sampled on C_L . Then the whole circuitry enters idle state until the next sampling phase starts.

The z-domain transfer function of zero-crossing based switched-capacitor integrator is identical with that of its OTA-based counterpart:

$$\frac{V_O(z)}{V_{IN}(z)} = \beta \frac{z^{-\alpha}}{1 - z^{-1}}$$
(2-4)

where α equals 1 for full-delay implementations and 1/2 for half-delay implementations.

It is noteworthy that the transition from the coarse phase to the fine phase is self-timed. Moreover, the time required to accomplish the charge-transfer is signal-dependent and varies from cycle to cycle. It is determined by the preset value of V_X , which depends on the input signal as well as the stored charge on the integration capacitor (Equation (2-2)). In traditional synchronous-mode implementations, this feature is not enjoyed due to the fact the period allocated for charge-transfer must be long enough to ensure correct operation in all conditions, which degrades the circuit operation speed. Fortunately, we will find in Chapter 4 that when shifted to the self-timed mode this problem no longer exists.

2-2 Noise in ZCB Switched-Capacitor Integrator

Noise is one of the main limitations of accuracy in zero-crossing based switched-capacitor integrators, as is the case in traditional OTA-based designs. Except for the well-understood kT/C noise resulting from the sample operation in the front-end circuit, only the noise during the fine phase charge-transfer, especially at the instant of the threshold-crossing, has impact on the final output voltage of the integrator. A variety of noise sources contribute to this process, as listed in Table 2-1.

Index	Noise Type	Contributor
1	Thermal noise	Zero-crossing detector
2	Flicker noise	Zero-crossing detector
3	Flicker noise	Gated current source
4	Shot noise	Gated current source
5	Switch noise	Switches

 Table 2-1: Noise Sources in Charge-transfer Process

While the noise from the gated current sources directly leads to error charge on the integration capacitor, the output noise of the zero-crossing detector results in jitter of the crossing-time decision, as illustrated in Figure 2-4. This feature brings some differences in the noise transfer function of the zero-crossing detectors.



Figure 2-4: Noise-induced jitter in zero-crossing-based switched-capacitor integrator (V_X : virtual ground node voltage; V_{ZCD} : output voltage of the ZCD)

This section will present a brief investigation on the thermal noise in the zero-crossing

Master of Science Thesis

CONFIDENTIAL

Chao Chen

detector¹, as well as a design-oriented overview of other noise sources.

2-2-1 Thermal Noise in the Zero-Crossing Detector

Traditional thermal noise analysis on OTA-based switched-capacitor circuits, such as [31], relies on the assumption that the amplifier operates in the steady-state. In other words, the statistics properties of the noise do not vary with time and can be measured with the well-known time-averaged root-mean-square (RMS) value. However, this assumption is not valid in the zero-crossing based switched-capacitor circuit, because it depends on the transient response of the zero-crossing detector and does not necessarily reach steady-state throughout its operation. The variance and hence the RMS value of the noise is not static with time. Therefore, conventional noise analysis based on frequency domain method is not applicable in ZCB switched-capacitor circuits.

A time-domain analysis method is proposed in [30] to address this problem, which is based on the autocorrelation between non-stationary random processes. It states the following:

For a white noise unit step input u(t), the time-variant output variance of noise power $\sigma_n^2(t)$ can be modeled by the product of the integral of the impulse response in the time-domain and the double-sided white noise power spectral density (PSD), as follows:

$$\sigma_n^2(t) = S_{xx} \int_{-\infty}^t |h(\tau)|^2 d\tau$$
(2-5)

where S_{xx} is the double-sided white noise PSD and h(t) is the system impulse response.²

Based on this theoretical conclusion, an estimation of thermal noise in zero-crossing based switched-capacitor integrators can be performed with a similar approach as that presented for OTA-based integrators in [31]. Firstly, a noise model of the zero-crossing detector should be established.

Noise Model

A zero-crossing detector is essentially a tailored wide-band continuous-time comparator. In order to reduce the input-referred noise of the ZCD, a low-noise band-limiting preamplifier is usually added in front of the wide-band crossing detector [30], as illustrated in Figure 2-5 (a). This preamplifier typically dominates both the noise performance and the speed of the ZCD. Unlike amplifiers in conventional switched-capacitor circuits, the preamplifier in the ZCD does not necessarily enter steady-state during its operation. However, its small-signal model at the instant of the crossing-response (t_R in Figure 2-4) can still be utilized for a first-order noise

$$\sigma_n^{2\prime} = S_{xx} \cdot NBW_o \tag{2-6}$$

where NBW_o is the output noise bandwidth (double-sided). Therefore the integral of time-domain impulse response in Formula (2-5) can be regarded as the equivalent noise bandwidth in non-steady-state systems, albeit time-variant.

¹A comprehensive discussion on CBSC noise and the corresponding frequency-domain analysis techniques can be found in [30].

 $^{^{2}}$ To get an intuitive understanding on this formula, let's have a look at the traditional case. In steady-state systems, the time-invariant noise power is given by:
analysis, since only the noise power at that moment has impacts on the final decision. In the small-signal model, the preamplifier can be modeled as a simple transconductance amplifier loaded with a band-limiting capacitor, as shown in Figure 2-5(b).

In the following discussions the input-referred noise and noise-bandwidth of the preamplifier will be investigated. Before that, the output noise power and equivalent noise gain of the preamplifier should be calculated.



Figure 2-5: (a) Typical structure of zero-crossing detector; (b) Small-signal model of the preamplifier at the instant of threshold crossing

Output Noise of the Preamplifier

In a transconducance amplifier, the impulse response from the noise current source I_n to the output voltage V_o can be given by [30]:

$$h_i(t) = \frac{1}{C_{int}} e^{-t/\tau}$$
(2-7)

where C_{int} is the internal band-limiting capacitor in the ZCD, and $\tau = R_0 C_{int}$ is the time constant at the output of the transconductance amplifier.

The noise current source I_n can be modeled as a equivalent thermal noise transconductance g_n with a double-sided white noise PSD as:

$$S_{xxi} = 2kTg_n \tag{2-8}$$

Master of Science Thesis

CONFIDENTIAL Chao Chen

Thus the time-variant output noise power of the preamplifier can be obtained by substituting Equation (2-7) and (2-8) into Formula (2-5), giving:

$$\overline{v_o^2}(t) = \frac{kT}{C_{int}} g_n R_o [1 - e^{-2t/\tau}] u(t)$$
(2-9)

where u(t) is the unit step function.

The concerned output noise power of the zero-crossing detector can be obtained by substituting $t = t_R$ into the above equation, due to the fact that only the noise at the instant of the response time defects the accuracy of the integrator.

Noise Gain

As mentioned in previous sections, the output noise of a ZCD results in jitter of the zerocrossing decision time, which can be referred to the input ports in the form of noise voltage on the virtual ground node. Therefore, the noise gain of the preamplifier can be determined by the ratio of voltage slopes at the output and input ports:

$$|G_N| = \left(\frac{dv_o(t)}{dt}\Big|_{t=t_R}\right) / \left(\frac{dv_X(t)}{dt}\Big|_{t=t_R}\right)$$
(2-10)

In zero-crossing based switched-capacitor integrators, the input voltage to the ZCD during the fine phase charging can be regarded as a slow ramp:

$$v_{IN}(t) = Mtu(t) \tag{2-11}$$

where $M = dV_{IN}/dt$ is the input ramp rate. According to [30], the time-domain response of a transconductance amplifier to a ramp input can be described by the following expression:

$$v_O(t) = A_0 M \left[t - \tau \left(1 - e^{-t/\tau} \right) \right] u(t)$$
(2-12)

where $A_0 = g_m R_o$ is DC gain of the transconductance amplifier at the instant of crossingresponse. Thereby, the output voltage slope of the preamplifier is:

$$\frac{dv_O(t)}{dt} = A_0 M (1 - e^{-t/\tau}) u(t)$$
(2-13)

Consequently, the noise gain of the preamplifier is:

$$|G_N| = A_0 (1 - e^{-t/\tau}) u(t)$$
(2-14)

Input-referred Noise of the Preamplifier

On the basis of Equation (2-9) and (2-14), the input referred thermal noise power can be derived by:

$$\overline{v_{in,\text{ZCD}}^2}(t_R) = \frac{\overline{v_o^2}(t_R)}{|G_N|^2}$$
(2-15)

Chao Chen

CONFIDENTIAL

$$=\frac{kT}{C_{int}}\frac{g_n}{g_m^2 R_o}\frac{1+e^{-t_R/\tau}}{1-e^{-t_R/\tau}}$$
(2-16)

$$=\frac{kT}{\tau}\frac{g_n}{g_m^2}\coth\left(\frac{t_R}{2\tau}\right) \tag{2-17}$$

Note that the term g_n/g_m^2 in the above expression can be regarded as the input-referred thermal noise resistance R_n in usual transconductance amplifiers. Thus the expression can be rewritten as:

$$\overline{v_{in,\text{ZCD}}^2}(t_R) = 4kTR_n \cdot \frac{1}{4\tau} \coth\left(\frac{t_R}{2\tau}\right)$$
(2-18)

All the above derivations are based on the time-domain analysis method. To make an interpretation from frequency-domain, consider the expression of input-referred noise power in usual steady-state amplifiers, which is the product of the input-referred thermal noise PSD and the corresponding noise bandwidth:

$$\overline{v_{in,\text{ZCD}}^2}(t_R) = 4kTR_n \cdot NBW_{i,ss}$$
(2-19)

Equivalently, the input-referred noise bandwidth in the non-stationary preamplifier can be defined as:

$$NBW_{i,ns} = \frac{1}{4\tau} \coth\left(\frac{t_R}{2\tau}\right) \tag{2-20}$$

It contains a hyperbolic function of the ratio of the preamplifier response time (t_R) to the time constant (τ) . Two extreme conditions exist:

$$NBW_{i,ns} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{4\tau}, & \text{for } t_R \gg 2\tau \end{cases}$$
(2-21)

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{c} \frac{1}{2t_R}, & \text{for } t_R \ll 2\tau \end{array} \right.$$
(2-22)

(2-21) is identical with the noise bandwidth in common single-pole steady-state systems; (2-22) shows an integrator-like noise bandwidth, which is inversely proportional to the integration (delay) time. This interesting characteristic offers an orientation to the design trade-offs of noise and speed in zero-crossing detectors. To be more precise, a plot showing the variation of the equivalent noise bandwidth with a wide range of preamplifier time constants and delay times is presented in Figure 2-6. The two extreme conditions are both highlighted on this plot. It reveals that:

- With a constant preamplifier response (delay) time, the noise bandwidth of the preamplifier shrinks as the time constant increases;
- With a fixed time constant, the noise bandwidth of the preamplifier reduces as the response time gets longer and the circuit operates slower.

Due to this noise-speed trade-off, a "sweet corner" in Figure 2-6, as is also highlighted, can be utilized as the optimal region for design choices. Within this region, the preamplifier time constant and response time follow the relationship as:

$$t_R \simeq 2\tau \tag{2-23}$$

Master of Science Thesis

CONFIDENTIAL

Chao Chen



Figure 2-6: Equivalent noise bandwidth of the ZCD preamplifier

Accordingly, a relatively small noise bandwidth can be obtained without sacrificing the circuit operation speed too much. This rule of thumb can be applied for thermal noise estimation in the specific design of zero-crossing detectors, as will be shown in Chapter 5.

2-2-2 Flicker Noise

In semiconductor devices, flicker noise, also known as 1/f noise, is a type of frequencydependent noise caused by fluctuations of carriers in the MOSFET channels [32]. Its singlesided power spectrum density can be modeled by the following expression [33]:

$$S_{x,1/f}(f) = \frac{K}{C_{OX}WLf}$$
(2-24)

where K is a process-dependent constant, C_{OX} is the oxide capacitance per square of the MOS transistor and W, L are the width and length of the transistor gate, respectively. The magnitude of flicker noise is often measured with the so-called *corner frequency*, which defines

Chao Chen

CONFIDENTIAL

the boundary between the 1/f noise dominant region and the "flat" white noise dominant region in the noise spectrum.

As is the case in most analog circuits, flicker noise dominates the low-frequency noise performance in zero-crossing based switched-capacitor integrators. Both the zero-crossing detector and the gated current sources generate flicker noise during the charge-transfer process. To reduce the effect of flicker noise in these circuit components, a variety of circuit techniques can be adopted, as discussed below.

Increasing the Dimensions of MOSFET Gates

Evidently and effectively, enlarging the area of MOS transistor gates $(W \times L)$ can linearly reduce the flicker noise power density according to (2-24). The sizes of transistor gates can be increased properly until the flicker noise power within the desired bandwidth becomes negligible compared to other noise sources. The only penalty is an increase in the parasitic capacitance.

This method is applicable to gated current sources, which operate in a static rather than dynamic manner during the charge-transfer process. Moreover, the parasitic capacitance on their gates can even help in stabilizing the biasing voltage by decoupling the high frequency noise. One possible limitation comes from the switching speed of the gated current sources, which may be slightly degraded by the increased parasitic capacitance and should be taken care for in design.

In zero-crossing detectors, however, the cost is not free. Up-sizing input transistors of the ZCD will increase the parasitic capacitance on the virtual ground node, which introduces extra charge-loss during the charge-transfer process and aggravates the integrator leakage³. Therefore, it is necessary to search for other solutions.

Auto-zeroing

The auto-zeroing (AZ) technique is widely used in analog circuits for the cancellation of unwanted low-frequency disturbances such as offset and flicker noise [34]. The effect of AZ on the noise can be explained by Figure 2-7, where voltage source V_n and resistor R_n represent the input-referred noise voltage and noise impedance of the auto-zeroed analog module respectively. The operation of AZ process requires at least two phases: in the auto-zeroing phase (Φ_{az}), S_{az} is closed and V_n is sampled on the auto-zeroing capacitor (C_C); in the signalprocessing phase ($\phi_{\overline{az}}$), S_{az} is opened and the time-invariant components of the sampled voltage on C_C are subtracted from the input or output signal, thus cancelling the low-frequency noise. In other words, the AZ process performs like a high-pass filter with an equivalent cutoff frequency related to the time interval between two auto-zeroing operations.

The discrete-time nature makes the AZ technique inherently applicable for zero-crossing based circuits. For example, the preamplifier of the zero-crossing detector can be auto-zeroed per cycle to attenuate the flicker noise generated from its input transistors, as will be shown in Chapter 3.

³Further explanations can be found in Chapter 3.



Figure 2-7: General operation principle of auto-zeroing process

The AZ technique also has drawbacks. It's essentially a type of sampling process, which leads to an increased white noise floor due to the folding of both thermal and flicker noise [34] [7]. Normally the foldover noise is dominated by the aliased thermal noise in the preamplifier, whose noise power spectral density can be estimated as:

$$S_{x,\text{thermal,fold}} = \frac{GBW}{f_s} \cdot 4kTR_n \tag{2-25}$$

where GBW is the gain-bandwidth product of the preamplifier and f_s is the sampling frequency in synchronous mode. This fact highlights the trade-off between accuracy and speed in the design of zero-crossing detectors again, being in line with the previous discussions in Section 2-2-1.

2-2-3 Other Noise Sources

Shot Noise

In electronic circuits, shot noise is a type of white noise that comes from the random fluctuations in electron charge conduction, such as a DC current flowing through PN junctions in semiconductor devices [35]. In contrast to thermal noise, shot noise is independent from temperature variation. With very tiny current and short charging time scale, the effect of charge fluctuation and hence the power of shot noise can be significant, otherwise it can be ignored. In zero-crossing based switched-capacitor circuits, the magnitude of the fine phase charging current is quite small (usually less than 1μ A), arousing the necessity to make an examination of the impacts of shot noise.

According to the Schottky formula [36], the doubled-sided spectral power density of shot noise current in the fine phase current source can be given by:

$$S_{xx,shot} = qI_F \tag{2-26}$$

where I_F is the DC current magnitude of the fine phase current source.

During the zero-crossing delay time t_R , the mean square value of noise voltage across the integration capacitor can be estimated as: [?]

$$\overline{v_{o,shot}^2}(t_R) \approx \frac{S_{xx,shot}}{C_I^2} t_R = \frac{qI_F t_R}{C_I^2}$$
(2-27)

Chao Chen

CONFIDENTIAL

When referred to the input of the integrator, it becomes:

$$\overline{v_{in,shot}^2}(t_R) \approx \frac{qI_F t_R}{C_I^2} \left(\frac{C_I}{C_S}\right)^2$$

$$= \frac{qI_F t_R}{C_S^2}$$
(2-28)

Equation (2-28) reveals that shot noise power is positively related to the delay time of the zero-crossing detector and the fine phase current. For example, suppose that the fine phase current magnitude is 100nA, the response time of the zero-crossing detector is 100ns and the sampling capacitor is 1pF. The resulted input-referred shot noise voltage will be 40 $\mu V_{\rm rms}$, which is not much a problem in over-sampling systems when compared with the thermal noise (see Chapter 5). What's more, in practice the shot noise will be even smaller than the prediction in Equation (2-28), as a result of the partial current-source-noise cancellation effect in the preamplifier [?]. Therefore, it is reasonable to expect that the shot noise will not bring about troubles in zero-crossing based switched-capacitor integrators.

Switch Noise

The finite on-resistance of series switches also contributes thermal noise during the chargetransfer phase. Its influence can be made negligible as long as the switch conductive resistance is small enough compared with the input-referred thermal noise resistance of the ZCD's preamplifier (R_n in (2-18)). Fortunately, this condition is quite common in practice due to the consideration on reducing switch-induced voltage-drops, as will soon be explained in the discussion on non-linearity effects (Section 2-3-1).

2-3 Error Sources in ZCB Switched-Capacitor Integrator

Like its OTA-based counterpart, zero-crossing based switched-capacitor integrators suffer from a number of circuit-level error sources which may cause offset and non-linearity. The problem mainly comes from the overshoot due to non-zero response delay of zero-crossing detectors, as well as a variety of non-ideal effects in the switches. In this section the generation mechanisms of these error sources will be analyzed in detail.

2-3-1 Offset

The finite response delay of zero-crossing detectors is the main source of offset in ZCB switched-capacitor integrators, especially in single-ended implementations. As depicted in Figure 2-8, a delay of crossing detection t_R at the end of the fine phase charging introduces an integrator output overshoot, as given by:

$$\Delta V_{OVO} = \frac{1}{C_T + C_L} I_F t_R \tag{2-29}$$

Master of Science Thesis

CONFIDENTIAL

Chao Chen



Figure 2-8: Effect of zero-crossing detector overshoots (a) Equivalent circuit topology in fine phase (b) Waveform on virtual ground V_X and integrator output V_O during fine phase charging

where $C_T = \frac{C_S C_I}{C_S + C_I}$ and I_F is the fine charging current flowing through the capacitor network. It results an overshoot at the virtual ground node:

$$\Delta V_{OVX} = \frac{C_I}{C_S + C_I} \Delta V_{OVO} \Rightarrow \Delta V_{OVX} = \frac{1/C_S}{1 + C_L/C_T} I_F t_R \tag{2-30}$$

The term $\frac{1/C_S}{1+C_L/C_T}I_F$ represents the ramp rate at the input of the zero-crossing detector. The resulting error charge on the integration capacitor is:

$$\Delta Q = (\Delta V_{OVO} - \Delta V_{OVX})C_I \Rightarrow \Delta Q = \frac{1}{1 + C_L/C_T} I_F t_R$$
(2-31)

The signs of ΔQ and ΔV_{OVX} depend on the direction of I_F . For example, if $I_F < 0$, $\Delta Q < 0$, implying that there is charge loss during integration. Consequently, the effective sampled voltage V_{INE} on C_S can be defined by:

$$V_{INE} = \frac{C_S V_{IN} + \Delta Q}{C_S}$$

= $V_{IN} + \Delta V_{OVX}$ (2-32)

It is equivalent to the situation that an effective input voltage of $V_{IN} + \Delta V_{OVX}$ is sampled in each cycle. The constant component in ΔV_{OVX} causes an offset, while the signal-dependent component due to variation of the ramp rate results in non-linearity.

Chao Chen

CONFIDENTIAL

The non-idealities of MOS switches can also cause offset problem. As with most sampling systems, the effects of charge-injection and clock-feedthrough [37] can introduce errors on the sampled output voltage during both sampling and integration phases. This error can be turned into a signal-independent offset with the aid of some well-developed circuit techniques like bottom-plate sampling and dummy switches [37]. As a result, it is conventionally recommended to minimize the sizes of switches on the charge-transfer path as long as the speed requirement is satisfied [38]. However, this design rule is not always appropriate for ZCB switched-capacitor circuits, particularly because of the constraint caused by voltage drops across the switches.



Figure 2-9: Effect of voltage-drop on series switches during charge-transfer process

The generation mechanism of these switch-induced voltage drops is illustrated in Figure 2-9. Unlike in exponential-settling switched-capacitor circuits, the current flowing through the capacitor-series switches is kept roughly constant throughout the charge-transfer phase. The finite on-resistances of switches S_1 , S_2 , S_3 produce a series of voltage drops on the chargetransfer path:

$$V_{d1} = I_{F1}R_{S1}; \ V_{d2} = I_{F1}R_{S2}; \ V_{d3} = I_{F2}R_{S3}$$
(2-33)

where $I_{F1} = I_F \frac{C_L}{C_L + C_T}$, $I_{F2} = I_F \frac{C_T}{C_L + C_T}$, and R_{S1} , R_{S2} and R_{S3} represent the onresistance of switches S_1 , S_2 and S_3 , respectively. Theses voltage drops cause an integrator output voltage error as:

$$\Delta V_{O,vd} = -\frac{C_S}{C_I} V_{d1} + V_{d2} - V_{d3}$$
(2-34)

while the integrated error charge suffers from V_{d1} only:

$$\Delta Q_{vd} = -C_S V_{d1} \tag{2-35}$$

Therefore, the effective input voltage due to the voltage drops across the switches is

$$V_{INE,vd} = V_{IN} - V_{d1} (2-36)$$

Expression (2-34) (2-35) and (2-36) reveal that only the switch connected in series with the sampling capacitor results in an input-referred error, while the voltage drop across the

Chao Chen

other switches just slightly shifts the output voltage of the integrator⁴. Like the overshootinduced error, the constant portion in V_{d1} causes offset, while the portion that changes with input signal due to the variation of I_{F1} causes non-linearity.

Generally, the effect of V_{d1} is much less significant compared with the overshoot error. For instance, a constant fine phase current of 100nA flowing through a NMOS switch with 1k Ω on-resistance yields an input-referred offset of 100 μ V. It is far smaller than that contributed by the overshoot which is often in mV range. However, the situation can get worse in closeloop systems such as $\Delta\Sigma$ modulators, where the sampling capacitor is alternatively switched to different reference voltages for feedback purpose during charge-transfer phase. In this case, the value of R_{S1} may suffer from a wide dynamic range and produce dramatic linearity problems, as will be shown in the next sub-section.

All the above discussions are oriented to single-ended implementations. In differential implementations, the offset is dominated by the residue error of overshoots and switch voltage drops due to circuit component mismatches.

2-3-2 Non-Linearity

As mentioned in the previous sub-section, the signal-dependent portion in the overshoot and switch-induced voltage drop results in non-linearity. This signal-dependence mainly comes from the variation of charging current (I_{F1}) during the fine phase, and the changing onresistance of critical switches⁵. Their generation mechanism and impacts are discussed below.

Variation of Charging Current

Figure 2-10(a) shows a typical topology of gated current source used in zero-crossing based switched-capacitor circuits. Both coarse and fine current sources are implemented with gatecontrolled MOSFETs whose drain terminals are connected to the integrator output node (V_O) . Due to the channel-length modulation [39], the drain current in both MOSFETs vary in response to the changing integrator output voltage, as illustrated in Figure 2-10(b).

According to the Shichman-Hodges model [40], the drain currents can be given as:

$$\begin{cases} I_C = I_{C0}(1 + \lambda_C V_O) \\ I_F = I_{F0}[1 + \lambda_F (V_{DD} - V_O)] \end{cases}$$
(2-37)

where I_{C0} , I_{F0} are constant terms and λ_C , λ_F are channel-length modulation coefficients for coarse and fine current sources respectively. In practice, λ_C and λ_F are not constant but slightly changing with the transistors' drain-to-source voltages as well. Accordingly, the charging currents reveal an approximately linear dependence on the integrator output voltage.

The large output swing of the integrator may turn this signal-dependence into a dramatic problem. As depicted in Figure 2-10(b), a stable integrator output can range from ground to

⁴Here, the varying portions of V_{d2} and V_{d3} are neglected, which is reasonable in practice.

⁵Variation of capacitor network (C_S , C_I and C_L) can also introduce signal-dependent error. Nevertheless, the voltage-dependency of these capacitors is normally small in most applications of SC integrators. Therefore there's no need to discuss their impacts here.



Figure 2-10: (a) Typical topology of gated current source in ZCB switched-capacitro integrator(b) ZCB switched-capacitor integrator output voltage swing

the power supply voltage maximally. This fact aggravates the variation of charging currents especially during the fine phase, thus ruining the charge-transfer linearity.

From another point of view, the value of $\lambda_{C,F}$ can be regarded as a measure of the finite output impedance of current sources, as described by:

$$\begin{cases} r_{OC} = \frac{1 + \lambda_C V_O}{\lambda_C I_C} \\ r_{OF} = \frac{1 + \lambda_F (V_{DD} - V_O)}{\lambda_F I_F} \end{cases}$$
(2-38)

A larger current source output impedance corresponds to a smaller channel-length modulation coefficient and hence better linearity. In an extreme case, $r_{OC,F} \to \infty$ when $\lambda_{C,F} = 0$, which indicates that with infinite current source output impedance the charging currents are absolutely stable against the integrator output signal.

Conventionally, there are two general methods to address the non-linearity problem caused by charging current variations: reducing the integrator output swing and increasing the output impedance of gated current sources. However, each method has its own demerit: the reduction of output swing often requires an aggressive scaling in the signal transfer function (STF), leading to degradation of the signal-to-noise ratio (SNR); on the other hand, traditional circuit techniques used for boosting current source output impedance, such as transistor cascoding [23], are not compatible with low-voltage circumstances which ZCB circuits are originally designed for. Based on the above reasons, creative ideas are called for to provide new solutions, and one of them will be presented in Section 2-5.

Mismatch of Switch On-resistance Due to Feedback

In some applications like discrete-time $\Delta\Sigma$ modulators, switched-capacitor integrators are often implemented in a close-loop configuration. To implement charge-balancing, feedback signals are usually applied at the input of the integrators during the sampling or the chargetransfer phase. The former scheme (Figure 2-11(a)) is generally not preferred in energyconstrained designs, because the extra sampling capacitor C_{FB} introduces extra kT/C noise



Figure 2-11: Feedback schemes in ZCB switched-capacitor integrator (a) feedback in sampling phase (b) feedback in charge-transfer phase

and gain error as well as more power consumption. The latter scheme (Figure 2-11(b)) gets rid of these problems by accomplishing the feedback operation in the charge-transfer phase, during which the top plate of the single sampling capacitor is switched to different feedback voltages. This topology is widely used in OTA-based switched-capacitor integrators, while in their ZCB counterparts the mismatches between the on-resistances of feedback switches may become problematic.

Figure 2-12 illustrates the cause of the problem. During the charge-transfer phase, the feedback MOSFET switches S_{1P} and S_{1N} are alternatively turned on according to the system output condition. Their on-resistances are given by [37]:

$$R_{on} = \frac{1}{K' \frac{W}{L} V_{od}}$$
(2-39)

where K' is a process-dependent parameter, $\frac{W}{L}$ is the designed switch dimension and V_{od} is the transistor overdrive voltage. Since the feedback switches are connected to different reference voltages (V_{REFP} and V_{REFN}), their overdrive voltages differ from each other. What's worse, given the fact that S_{1P} and S_{1N} are usually implemented with different types of MOSFETs (eg. NMOS and PMOS) and fabricated in different silicon substrates⁶, the matching of process parameters and switch dimensions are both poor. As a result, the on-resistances of S_{1P} and S_{1N} suffer from a critical systematic mismatch and create different input-referred voltage

⁶In standard single-well process, PMOS transistors are fabricated in n-type wells while NMOS transistor are fabricated in p-type substrate.

29

error according to Figure 2-36. It's equivalent to disturbing the balance between the two feedback signals.



Figure 2-12: Topology of feedback-included ZCB integrator during charge-transfer process

Generally, the occurrence ratios of positive and negative feedback are correlated to the input signal magnitude. Consequently, the mismatch of feedback switches finally results in a system-level gain error if the variation of charging current is neglected. To reduce its impact, a feasible method is to increase the $\frac{W}{L}$ ratio of the MOSFETs thus minimizing the absolute value of switch on-resistance, at the cost of larger parasitic capacitance and hence more dynamic power consumption.

2-4 Prior Work

The zero-crossing based switched-capacitor circuit has been applied in various types of ADCs, performing as gain stages or integrators. Its first prototype was demonstrated in a pipeline ADC [21], where the opamps in pipeline gain stages were replaced by a general-purpose comparator and a pair of bidirectional current sources. In order to achieve a high gain, the comparator was implemented with multi-stage cascaded amplifiers, resulting in a considerable power consumption. In the follow-up designs, a more power-efficient zero-crossing detector took the place of the comparator. It was employed in both single-ended [22] and fully-differential [41] pipeline structures. Later on, a voltage-scalable zero-crossing based pipeline ADC was present in [42], demonstrating the low-voltage amenability of ZCB designs.

Typically, the target applications for pipeline ADCs, such as communication systems, require for high conversion speed (5MS/s to 200MS/s) and medium resolution (8b to 12b). Within this specification scope, the aforementioned non-linearity problem of ZCB circuits does not necessarily become the performance bottleneck. However, this problem does restrict the application of ZCB circuits in oversampling data converters which are commonly aimed at higher resolution and linearity (>13b ENOB or >80dB SNDR), such as discretetime $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs. The first comparator-based switched-capacitor $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator was reported in [23]. In spite of the usage of cascoded current sources at the cost of a relatively high supply voltage (1.8V), the design only achieved 65.3dB SNDR with a rather poor energyefficiency (6.98pJ/step). When compared with the earlier OTA-based designs (eg. [25][7]), this performance is obviously not attractive.

Master of Science Thesis

To enhance the low-voltage operation capacity, a second-order zero-crossing based $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC targeting for MHz-level signal bandwidth was introduced in [24]. In this design, switched-resistor current sources were employed to improve the dynamic matching between differential charging and discharging currents. Since no transistors were used in the current sources, the required supply voltage was reduced as well. However, the poor output impedance of resistor-based current source also significantly degraded the converter's linearity performance. With a 1.1V supply, the ADC achieved 0.833MHz signal bandwidth by consuming 630µW power, while the peak SNDR was only 47.7dB.

In order to address the linearity problem, some modified ZCB topologies were proposed in recent years. In [43], a fourth-order comparator-based $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC was powered by 1V, while the cascoded current sources were driven by a higher voltage boosted from the low supply. In this way, the current source output impedance can be enhanced without disturbing the integrator output swing. The disadvantage is that a large bypassing capacitance between two voltages was required to minimize the impact of supply voltage deviation on the charging current. In addition, since the boosted voltage was used as a static power source, it raised reliability concerns such as latch-up. This design achieved 1MHz signal bandwidth and 63dB SNDR in 90nm CMOS process, with an energy consumption of 1.82pJ/step.



Figure 2-13: Opamp-assisted charge-transfer waveform on virtual ground node (a) ACBSC topology [1] (b) Hybrid opamp/ZCB topology [2]

Another interesting idea is to re-involve the opamps in the charge-transfer process. An amplifier and comparator based switched-capacitor (ACBSC) technique was present in [1]. By applying a low-gain amplifier across the integration capacitor, the output swing requirements of the current sources can be relaxed, hence the variation of charging current can be reduced. As shown in Figure 2-13(a), the charge-transfer process starts with an opamp-driven exponential settling, and the current sources and comparators are turned on subsequently to cover the remained error due to the finite amplifier DC gain. A third-order $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator was designed and simulated based on this technique. However, its effectiveness has not been demonstrated yet due to the lack of silicon verification.

The order of hybrid opamp/ZCB charge-transfer process can also be exchanged. In [2], the coarse phase charge-transfer was accomplished by a traditional ZCB topology, while the fine phase charge-transfer was performed by a low-gain amplifier (Figure 2-13(b)). In this way, the inaccuracy problem of the ZCB technique was overcome with the aid of the small-swing exponential settling. Although this technique was firstly developed for pipeline structures, it is apparently also suitable for $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs. The common shortcoming of the above opamp-assisted ZCB topologies is the increased circuit complexity, as well as the degraded amenability

to low supply voltage due to the involvement of opamps.

Table 2-2 summaries the performance of recent published $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs based on zerocrossing detection technique.

	[23]	[24]	[43]	[44]
Architecture	Second order	Second order	Fourth order	Second order
CMOS Technology	$0.18 \mu { m m}$	LP 45nm	$90 \mathrm{nm}$	TFT $3\mu m$
Supply Voltage (V)	1.8	1.1	1.0	11.2
Bandwidth (MHz)	0.02	0.833	1	0.00156
OSR	64	30	48	128
Sampling Frequency (MHz)	2.56	50	96	0.4
Peak SNDR (dB)	65.3	47.7	66	65.6
Dynamic range (dB)	71	54.3	70	69
Power Consumption (mW)	0.42	0.63	5.94	63.3
Area (mm^2)	0.21	0.0448	0.33	26
FOM $(pJ/step)^{\dagger}$	6.98	1.91	1.82	13.03

Table 2-2: Performance Table of Prior CBSC/ZCB $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC

[†] FOM = $\frac{\text{Power}}{2 \cdot \text{Bandwidth} \cdot 2^{\text{ENOB}}}$

2-5Advanced Circuit Topologies for ZCB Switched-capacitor Circuits

As is mentioned in the previous section and proved by Table 2-2, the zero-crossing based technique has not yet revealed its charms in $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs. The performance constraint mainly comes from the poor linearity and hence the limited energy-efficiency. Some advanced techniques designed for ZCB circuits, though not applied in $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs yet, can be used in combination to overcome the challenge. As candidates, two types of recent reported circuit topologies are introduced in this section: the early-threshold detection technique, which improves the energy-efficiency of the charge-transfer process, and the asynchronous correlated level shifting (CLS) topology, which alleviates the non-linearity issue.

Early-Threshold Detection 2-5-1

In the original designs of zero-crossing based switched-capacitor circuits [21][23], a dual-phase bidirectional charge-transfer scheme (Figure 2-3) was employed to ensure accuracy. The basic idea is to perform two detections of the virtual ground condition, while the second one is more critical and hence is accomplished with a much slower crossing ramp-rate. However, this scheme has at least two drawbacks:

- It requires to detect bidirectional zero-crossings during a relative short time, which adds to the difficulty of the ZCD design. High gain and high speed preamplifiers are usually used at the expense of more power consumption, as is the case in [21].
- Due to the overshoot of the zero-crossing detector, the voltage on the virtual ground node goes across the threshold voltage twice within one cycle. It's equivalent to the situation that some charge is injected into the integration capacitor and then pumped out immediately, which results in unnecessary energy consumption and extra charge-transfer time.

To avoid the above defects, an unidirectional dual-phase charge-transfer scheme is introduced in [24] and [42]. As its name suggests, in this scheme both coarse and fine phase charging are of the same direction, and only one threshold-crossing on the virtual ground node is detected in each cycle. Instead of utilizing the first zero-crossing decision as the time-boundary between the two charging phases, an asynchronous charging controller triggers the transition from coarse phase to fine phase slightly earlier than the detection of the virtual ground condition, as if it can "predict" the zero-crossing event. This mechanism can be referred to as the **Early-threshold Detection** technique.



Figure 2-14: Conceptual illustration of bidirectional and unidirectional charging scheme. Ramp-rates in coarse phase and fine phase are identical in both schemes.

The conceptual difference between the unidirectional and bidirectional dual-phase chargetransfer scheme is illustrated in Figure 2-14. It is obvious that the virtual ground node voltage trajectory in unidirectional charge-transfer scheme is shorter than that in its bidirectional counterpart. This fact not only saves the unnecessary energy-consumption caused by overshoot recovery, but also increases the charge-transfer speed. Moreover, the single zero-crossing

feature relaxes the response speed requirement for the ZCDs as well.

A side-benefit of unidirectional dual-phase charge-transfer scheme is the attenuation of spike disturbance caused by the charging phase transition [45]. In conventional ZCB designs based on bidirectional charging scheme, the turn-off of the coarse current sources and the turn-on of the fine current sources both happen during the phase transition, but not simultaneously due to the inevitable logic delay. The dramatic variation of impedance condition at the integrator output node may introduce significant voltage spikes that disturb the charge-transfer process, as shown in Figure 2-15. By contrast, in unidirectional charging scheme the fine current source can be turned on from the beginning of the coarse phase thanks to the identity of current direction, thus only the turn-off of the coarse current source is required during the phase transition. Consequently, the impedance variation at the integrator output node can be somewhat alleviated and the influence of voltage spikes can be attenuated. Another side-benefit is the reduction of phase transition time. Since the fine current source is already on when the fine phase starts, its parasitic capacitance doesn't introduce extra transition delay.



Figure 2-15: Illustration of voltage spikes during phase transition. (a) Bidirectional charge-transfer scheme (b) Unidirectional charge-transfer scheme

There are various types of circuit topologies available for the implementation of the earlythreshold detection [24][42]. Their common essential idea is to insert a pre-defined offset into a parallel signal-processing path of the ZCD. Figure 2-16 shows one of such topologies. The output of the ZCD preamplifier is divided into two branches. One branch is directly supplied to the threshold detector to generate the normal zero-crossing decision, while an offset voltage is added to the other branch to generate the early decision. The offset voltage can be implemented with a periodically pre-charged capacitor, which is inherently compatible with the ZCB implementation. Detail circuit realizations and the consideration on the choice of the offset voltage will be discussed in Chapter 5.

2-5-2 Correlated Level Shifting

Traditional OTA-based switched-capacitor circuits suffer from non-linearity caused by the finite DC gain of the OTAs. The correlated level shifting (CLS) was firstly introduced in [46] as a power-efficient switched-capacitor technique to reduce the finite gain error while maintaining



Figure 2-16: (a) Circuit realization of early-threshold detection. (b) Timing diagram

rail-to-rail output swing. The same idea can also be applied to zero-crossing based switchedcapacitor circuits to reduce the current source non-linearity, as addressed in [47].



Correlated Level Shifting Block

Figure 2-17: Topology of correlated level shifting circuit in ZCB integrator (only show charge-transfer phase)

A typical implementation of a ZCB integrator utilizing correlated level shifting is depicted in Figure 2-17. As shown in the schematic, the fine current source (I_F) is not directly connected but capacitively coupled to the integrator output via a level shifting capacitor C_{CLS} . An extra switch is connected to the fine current source output node to reset and sample the estimated output voltage. The unidirectional charge-transfer scheme is also included.

CONFIDENTIAL



(d) Waveforms



Figure 2-18: Working Process of correlated level shifting in ZCB integrator (in charge-transfer phase)

It's worth noting that the utilization of CLS operation doesn't change the original working process of ZCB circuits, which is the beauty of this technique⁷. Figure 2-18 shows the chargetransfer process with CLS in a ZCB integrator. In the preset phase (Figure 2-18(a)), the integrator output node (V_O) and the fine current source output node (V_{fine}) are both pulled up to the supply voltage, thus resetting the level shifting capacitor. Next, V_O is released in the coarse phase (E_1) and the coarse current source starts to discharge the capacitor network, while V_{fine} is still stuck at the supply voltage(Figure 2-18(b)). As a result, by the end of the coarse phase the voltage difference between V_{DD} and the estimated value of V_O is sampled on C_{CLS} . In the fine phase (E_2), V_{fine} is level-shifted towards the supply voltage and the fine current source is switched on. In this way, the coarse and fine phase in the ZCB operation simultaneously perform as the estimation and level-shifting phase in the CLS operation.

⁷In OTA-based designs, to employ CLS operation the charge-transfer process has to be deliberately divided into two phases (estimation and level-shifting) [46], which complicates the clock timing.



Figure 2-19: Timing diagram of correlated level shifting with unidirectional charging scheme

Thanks to the slow ramp-rate during the fine phase, the voltage swing seen by the fine current source is relatively small. What's more, the trajectory of V_{fine} starts from V_{DD} in each cycle, thus removing the dependence of the fine phase charging current on the integrator output voltage. In other words, the CLS technique eliminates the correlation between the full output swing of the integrator and the critical charging current. Therefore, the non-linear ramp-rate variation due to finite output impedance of current sources can be significantly reduced.

The benefit of CLS technique for the linearity of ZCB circuits can be theoretically demonstrated as well. For the convenience of discussion, the output voltage waveform of a CLSassisted unidirectional ZCB integrator is redrawn in Figure 2-19. Given that only the relationship between V_O and the fine phase charging current is of interest, the fine phase ZCD response delay (t_R) can be neglected since it is relatively constant. As a rough approximation, the timing advance between the early-threshold response and the virtual coarse phase zero-crossing (t_{coarse}) can be assumed to be constant. According to (2-37), the fine charging current at the end of the fine phase is

$$I_{\rm fine} = I_{\rm fine0} - \frac{1}{\beta_{CLS}} \frac{V_{\rm O, coarse}}{r_{\rm O, fine}}$$
(2-40)

where I_{fine0} is the fine charging current at the start of the fine phase corresponding to $V_{\text{fine0}} = V_{DD}$, $r_{\text{O,fine}}$ is the output impedance of fine current source, and β_{CLS} is the capacitive dividing factor from V_{fine} ($V_{\text{fine,coarse}}$) to V_O ($V_{\text{O,coarse}}$), as given by

$$\beta_{CLS} = \frac{C_{CLS}(C_I + C_S)}{(C_{CLS} + C_L)(C_I + C_S) + C_I C_S}$$
(2-41)

The dependance of I_{fine} on V_O comes from the early detection voltage margin $V_{O,\text{coarse}}$, which can be derived by

$$V_{\rm O, coarse} = t_{\rm coarse} \frac{dV_O}{dt} \Big|_{\rm coarse}$$
(2-42)

Chao Chen

CONFIDENTIAL

The term $\left. \frac{dV_O}{dt} \right|_{\text{coarse}}$ represents the ramp-rate of V_O at the end of the coarse phase. It can be approximated as

$$\frac{dV_O}{dt}\Big|_{\text{coarse}} = \frac{I_{\text{coarse}}}{C_{CLS} + C_L + \frac{C_I C_S}{C_I + C_S}} = \frac{(I_{\text{coarse}} + \frac{V_O}{r_{O,\text{coarse}}})(C_I + C_S)}{(C_{CLS} + C_L)(C_I + C_S) + C_I C_S}$$
(2-43)

where I_{coarse0} is the constant portion in the coarse charging current and $r_{\text{O,coarse}}$ is the output impedance of the coarse current source.

By substituting (2-41)(2-42) and (2-43) into (2-40), we have

$$I_{\text{fine}} = I_{\text{fine0}} - \frac{t_{\text{coarse}}}{r_{\text{O,fine}}C_{CLS}} \left(I_{\text{coarse0}} + \frac{V_O}{r_{\text{O,coarse}}} \right)$$
$$= \underbrace{I_{\text{fine0}} - \frac{t_{\text{coarse}}}{r_{\text{O,fine}}C_{CLS}}I_{\text{coarse0}}}_{V_O\text{-independent}} - \underbrace{\frac{V_O}{r_{\text{O,fine}}} \left(\frac{r_{\text{O,coarse}}C_{CLS}}{t_{\text{coarse}}}\right)^{-1}}_{V_O\text{-dependent}}$$
(2-44)

The V_O -dependent item in (2-44) reveals that, with the aid of the CLS operation the equivalent output impedance of the fine current source is boosted to

$$r_{\rm O,fine,CLS} = r_{\rm O,fine} \frac{r_{\rm O,coarse} C_{CLS}}{t_{\rm coarse}}$$
(2-45)

Equation (2-45) shows the positive correlation between the value of C_{CLS} and the ramprate linearity during the fine phase charge-transfer. For example, with $r_{O,coarse} = 1M\Omega$, $t_{coarse} = 10$ ns and $C_{CLS} = 200$ fF, the output impedance of the fine current source can be enhanced by 20 times, or 26dB. This improvement is obtained at the cost of extra energy consumption on the charging/discharging of the level-shifting capacitor as well as a slower operation speed. Therefore, from the design perspective, the choice of C_{CLS} is a matter of balancing the circuit linearity and the overall energy-efficiency.

The CLS technique also brings an attractive side benefit. Because of the fact that V_{fine} is level-shifted to a small range closed to V_{DD} , the voltage headroom of the fine current source is significantly enlarged, which is compatible with some traditional impedance boosting techniques, such as transistor cascoding. This feature allows for further improvements in the charge-transfer linearity of CLS-assisted ZCB integrators, which are nevertheless almost no-cost⁸. A detailed design example will be given in Chapter 5.

2-6 Summary

In this chapter, the concept and design concerns of zero-crossing based circuits for use in switched-capacitor integrators have been introduced. By replacing the OTAs in conventional

⁸If any, extra biasing circuitry is required.

switched-capacitor integrators with zero-crossing detectors and gated current sources, ZCB designs gain a variety of attractive characteristics, such as compatibility with the continuous down-scaling CMOS technology, and the amenability to low supply operation.

A design-oriented noise analysis of ZCB circuits has been presented. It contains an intensive quantitative description of the thermal noise in zero-crossing detectors, which is not necessarily stationary and a special time-domain analysis method is required. Besides noise, the sources of offset and non-linearity in ZCB circuits have also been discussed. The offset is mainly generated from the finite response delay of zero-crossing detectors. The ramp-rate variation due to finite current source output impedance and the voltage drop across the switches contribute to the non-linearity during the charge-transfer.

The prior applications of ZCB integrator in $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs have been briefly reviewed. As proved by these works, the non-linearity issue and the poor energy-efficiency have become the main bottleneck of ZCB circuits, especially when the absolute data conversion accuracy is of concern. To address these problems, two types of advanced circuit techniques, the earlythreshold detection and the correlated level shifting, have both been briefly introduced. They will be employed in the prototype design to demonstrate their effectiveness.

Chapter 3

Energy-Efficient Inverter-Based Zero-Crossing Detector

The energy-efficiency of the zero-crossing detector (ZCD) is of special concern as it usually dominates the power dissipation of zero-crossing based switched-capacitor circuits [21]. Conventional designs, such as [23], [42] and [43], utilized zero-crossing detectors consisting of single or multiple stages of transconductance amplifiers in open-loop configuration, which usually leads to considerable static power consumption. As an alternative structure, a new class of zero-crossing detectors based on an auto-zeroed CMOS inverter is described in this chapter. Compared with its OTA-based equivalents, the proposed technique reveals a significant advantage in energy-efficiency even with lower supply voltages.

The chapter starts with an introduction to the motivation of using the CMOS inverters as an analog functioning element. After a concise overview of different types of inverterbased analog circuits, the operation principle of the inverter-based zero-crossing detector is presented. Furthermore, special attention is paid to the non-ideal effects caused by the parasitic capacitors and the poor ability of CMOS inverters to reject the power supply noise.

3-1 Motivation

Although the CMOS inverter is normally used as the basic logic element in digital circuits [17], it can also be considered as a simple amplifier [3] when both PMOS and NMOS transistors are turned on, as shown in Figure 3-1(a). Figure 3-1 (b) plots the relative variation of the DC gain and the gain-bandwidth product (GBW) of CMOS inverters as a function of the static biasing current I_0 . When I_0 is smaller than the subthreshold current I_S , both MOSFETs operate in weak inversion; otherwise they operate in strong inversion. It is shown that a CMOS inverter provides a higher DC gain when biased in weak inversion, but has a faster operation speed (larger GBW) when working in strong inversion.

This phenomenon can be explained by the variation of MOSFET current-efficiency in different operation modes. The MOSFET current-efficiency is defined as the ratio of the

Master of Science Thesis



Figure 3-1: (a) Basic CMOS inverter topology (b) The DC gain and gain-bandwidth product (GBW) of CMOS inverters in static mode as a function of the biasing current I_0 [3]

transconductance $g_{\rm m}$ to the drain-source current I_{DS} . Given the fact that the output impedance of MOSFETs (r_O) is inversely proportional to I_{DS} in both weak and strong inversion regions, the MOSFET current-efficiency dominates the amplifier DC gain as

$$A_0 = g_{\rm m} r_O \propto \frac{g_{\rm m}}{I_{DS}} \tag{3-1}$$

Figure 3-2 plots the current efficiency versus the normalized I_{DS} with respect to the subthreshold current I_S [48]. In the weak inversion region, this ratio can be approximated by $\frac{q}{nkT}$, where n is a biasing-dependent process parameter. Normally the ratio value is around 25V^{-1} . In the strong inversion region, the current-efficiency is inversely proportional to the overdrive voltage $(V_{\text{gs}} - V_{\text{th}})$ and hence decreases dramatically, with a common value around



Figure 3-2: The current-efficiency of MOSFETs in weak inversion and strong inversion

CONFIDENTIAL

10V⁻¹. This fact suggests that it is beneficial to move the MOSFET operation region towards deep weak inversion for the purpose of improving the energy-efficiency. However, this benefit is limited by the reduction of GBW due to the decreased biasing current and hence smaller carrier density in the channels.

In order to obtain both high DC gain and fast operation speed, the CMOS inverter should be biased at the boundary between the weak and strong inversion regions [7]. The bias point of a static CMOS inverter can be self-determined with the unit-gain configuration, as shown in Figure 3-3. In the static state, $I_{\rm op} = I_{\rm on}$, i.e. $V_{\rm c}$ is the threshold voltage of the CMOS inverter. According to [39], $V_{\rm c}$ is given by

$$V_{\rm c} = \frac{V_{\rm tn} + \sqrt{\frac{\beta_{\rm p}}{\beta_{\rm n}}} \left(V_{DD} - |V_{\rm tp}| \right)}{1 + \sqrt{\frac{\beta_{\rm P}}{\beta_{\rm n}}}}$$
(3-2)

where $V_{\rm tp}$ and $V_{\rm tn}$ are threshold voltages of PMOS and NMOS transistors, and

$$\begin{cases} \beta_{n} = \frac{\mu_{n}C_{OX}W_{n}}{L_{n}}\\ \beta_{p} = \frac{\mu_{p}C_{OX}W_{p}}{L_{p}} \end{cases}$$
(3-3)

The boundary condition between weak and strong inversion regions is $V_{\rm c} \approx V_{\rm tn}$ and $V_{\rm c} \approx V_{DD} - |V_{\rm tp}|$, leading to

$$V_{DD,\text{opt}} \approx |V_{\text{tp}}| + V_{\text{tn}} \tag{3-4}$$

where $V_{DD,opt}$ is the optimal value of the supply voltage.

Equation (3-4) reveals a sweet benefit of inverter-based transconductance amplifiers: the amenability to low supply operation. For example, in a $0.18\mu m$ standard CMOS process, the



Figure 3-3: (a) Inverter in unit-gain configuration (b) Voltage scale

Master of Science Thesis

sum of NMOS and PMOS threshold voltages is around $0.9V\sim1V$, which is far smaller than the typical 1.8V analog supply at this technology node [49]. What's more, since both transistors can operate in deep weak inversion (sub-threshold mode), the supply voltage can be even further down-scaled as long as the speed sacrifices can be tolerated. The only imperfection is that $V_{DD,opt}$ does not scale linearly with the technology feature size [39].



Figure 3-4: Small-signal model of an inverter-based transconductance amplifier in the steady-state

Another advantage of inverter-based transconductance amplifiers is the doubled currentefficiency. Figure 3-4 shows the small-signal model of an inverter-based transconductance amplifier in the steady-state. As interpreted by the figure, the overall transconductance of of the steady-state inverter is contributed by both PMOS and NMOS transistors, as given by

$$g_{\rm m} = g_{\rm mp} + g_{\rm mn} \approx 2g_{\rm mn} \tag{3-5}$$

Thus, the current-efficiency $g_{\rm m}/I_{DS}$ of a steady-state inverter-based amplifier is roughly two times of that of conventional opamps whose input stages only consist of single type of MOSFETs.

All the above discussions are based on the small-signal model of steady-state inverterbased amplifier. For large signals, a CMOS inverter behaves in a push-pull fashion [17]. As an analog amplifier, the inverter operates in the class-AB mode when $V_{DD} \ge V_{DD,opt}$, while it operates as a class-C amplifier when $V_{DD} < V_{DD,opt}$ [7]. If the input signal has a relatively slow changing-rate, the biasing condition of the inverter can vary with the signal dynamically. The current flowing in the inverter only reaches its maximum value in the steady-state when $V_{in} \approx V_C$, where both transistors operate in the weak inversion region; otherwise the current is small as only one transistor is biased in the strong inversion region while another one is cut off. As such, the use of the static current can be concentrated around the instant when the inverter-based amplifier is biased in its quasi-steady-state condition, thus saving the static power consumption. This dynamic biasing capacity is particularly beneficial when the inverter is used as the preamplifier in zero-crossing detectors, as will be further discussed in Section 3-4.

To conclude, an inverter-based transconductance amplifier has the following advantages:

• Excellent compatibility to low supply circumstance. With a relaxed requirement on the operation speed, the amplifier can operate and provide sufficient DC gain even if the transistors are not fully turned on, thus eliminating the supply voltage limitation of conventional opamps;

- High current efficiency thanks to the weak inversion operation and the dual types of input transistors;
- Inherent dynamic biasing capacity when operating in the large-swing manner.

Because of all the above charming characteristics, inverter-based analog circuits have become an attractive candidate to perform the analog functions in energy-efficiency oriented designs [50][6][7]. Similar topologies can also be applied to zero-crossing detectors to replace the power-hungry cascaded amplifiers.

3-2 Control of Common-mode Voltage

The control of the common-mode voltage is an inherent problem of inverter-based analog circuits due to their singled-ended nature. Generally, there are two major types of circuit techniques that can be used to resolve this problem.

Replica Reference Inverter

The first method is to generate a reference voltage using a replica inverter in the unit-gain configuration, as shown in Figure 3-5(a). The simplicity of both topology and operation make this method suited for use in high-speed applications, such as in [51]. However, it is not energy-efficient for SC circuits as the static biasing current in the reference inverter consumes power constantly. What's worse, as revealed in (3-2) and (3-3), the reference voltage V_c suffers from the inevitable PVT variations, which makes the common-mode voltage unstable against different manufacturing and operating conditions.

Auto-zeroed Inverter

The second method is to auto-zero the inverter-based amplifier, as shown in Figure 3-5(b). With the addition of level-shift capacitor C_C and switches S_1 , S_2 and S_3 , the commonmode voltage can be moved to a desired level V_{CM} that is independent of the environmental conditions. When S_2 is closed, S_3 is open and S_1 is connected to the required common-mode voltage, the offset difference between V_{CM} and the unknown threshold voltage V_c is sampled on the capacitor C_C ; this voltage is then subtracted from the input voltage V_{in} when S_2 is open, S_3 is closed and S_1 is switched to V_{in} , thus cancelling the effect of V_c . As no extra static biasing circuit is needed and hence no static power dissipation is consumed, this structure is preferred for low power designs. Furthermore, the auto-zeroing operation also brings a bonus to the noise performance, as will be explained in Section 3-3.

3-3 Overview of Inverter-Based Analog Circuitry

The inverter-based analog circuitry is by no means a brand-new topic. As early as in the 1980s, when the CMOS technology scaling had not yet entered the sub-micrometer range, a class-AB inverter-based amplifier had been proposed in [4] for use in low power audio-band



Figure 3-5: Different common-mode voltage control schemes in inverter-based analog circuits [4] (a) Replica inverters in unit-gain configuration for reference voltage generation (b) Auto-zeroed inverter-amplifier

switched-capacitor filters. Later on, cascoded structures were introduced in inverter-based amplifiers to improve the DC gain [5], as shown in Figure 3-6(a). In [51], a differential inverter-based transconductance element was developed for the implementation of g_m -C integrators in very-high-frequency (VHF) analog filters.

Recently, inverter-based amplifiers have attracted more and more attentions from ADC designers. In [6], multiple stages of cascaded inverters with frequency compensation were utilized as an opamp cell in a $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator, as illustrated in Figure 3-6(b). As a more aggressive attempt, the $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC family presented in [7] made use of single-stage auto-zeroed inverters as the active feedback elements in switched-capacitor circuits. Both works proved the significant energy-efficiency advantage of inverter-based SC circuits over conventional OTA-based designs.

The CMOS inverter can also perform as a threshold comparator, which is essentially an open-loop amplifier. Its first application appeared in [52], where auto-zeroed inverters were utilized as the comparator stages in a high-speed full-flash ADC. The auto-zeroing operation is used to cancel the threshold offset and to ensure an accurate voltage reference for the comparisons. That is, however, not always necessary for wide-band or low-resolution digitizations in which the requirement on the transfer linearity is not crucial. Consequently,



Figure 3-6: Some modified inverter-based amplifier structures: (a) Cascode inverteramplifier [5] (b) Cascaded frequency-compensated inverter-amplifier [6]

a non-offset-cancelled inverter architecture was adopted in some follow-up designs, such as the comparator columns in flash ADCs [53] [50] and the multi-bit quantization comparator in $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs [6]. In the latter example, a 4-stage cascaded inverter chain was used to enhance the gain. By exchanging the accuracy with the circuit simplicity, the operation bandwidth of the comparator can be improved.

In this work, the inverter-based architecture is applied to the implementation of the zero-crossing detector, including both the low noise preamplifer and the wide-band crossing detector (see Figure 2-5(a)). A more detailed description is given in the next section.

3-4 Inverter-Based Zero-Crossing Detector

3-4-1 Topology

As shown in Figure 2-5, a zero-crossing detector consists of a low noise preamaplifier and a wide-band crossing detector. Both modules can be implemented with the CMOS inverter topology, but in different ways:

- As has been discussed in Chapter 2, an accurate and stable virtual-ground condition is of great importance for the overall linearity of the ZCB circuits. Therefore, the utilization of the auto-zeroed technique is necessary for the front-end low-noise preamplifier. In addition, to limit the noise bandwidth an explicit capacitor $C_{\rm int}$ is usually added at the load of the preamplifier;
- The wide-band crossing detector, on the contrary, is ideally a pull-push device which provides logic level outputs and only consumes dynamic power of

$$P_{\rm dyn} = V_{DD}^2 C_L f \tag{3-6}$$

Master of Science Thesis

CONFIDENTIAL

Chao Chen



Figure 3-7: Topology of simplified inverter-based zero-crossing detector

where C_L is the loading capacitance at the output of the zero-crossing detector and f is the operation frequency. Accordingly, a simple inverter chain without any offsetcancellation serves the purpose. To minimize the signal propagation delay, the number of stages in the inverter chain should be determined according to the loading condition. Generally, a two-stage chain is adequate for this task as the output of the zero-crossing detector usually feeds to logic gates with small sizes.

Figure 3-7 illustrates the primary topology of the proposed inverter-based zero-crossing detector. Its operation principle is analyzed in the following sub-section.

3-4-2 Operational Principle

The inverter-based zero-crossing detector operates in a discrete-time manner, as depicted in Figure 3-8.

During phase Φ_{AZ} , the inverter in the preamplifier is shorted to form a unity-gain configuration. Thus, the voltage difference between the virtual ground level V_{CM} and the inverter threshold voltage V_c ($V_{OFF} = V_{CM} - V_c$ [7]) is sampled on the capacitor C_C . During phase $\overline{\Phi_{AZ}}$, C_C is left floating and a voltage ramp is added on the virtual ground node V_X . When the virtual ground condition on V_X is achieved, the voltage on the node V_G should equal V_c due to the level-shifting effect of C_C . Upon that moment the inverter chain in the wide-band detector is triggered to make a crossing-decision and stop the voltage ramping.

During Φ_{AZ} , the zero-crossing detector stays idle. To be time-efficient the auto-zeroing can be performed simultaneously with the switched-capacitor sampling operation (Φ_1), as shown in Figure 3-8(c). Furthermore, the duty cycle of Φ_{AZ} need not be 50% as long as the auto-zeroing settling time is shorter than the length of the sampling phase¹, which is a common situation in low-speed I&M applications. The settling time constant of V_G during the auto-zeroing phase is inversely proportional to the effective transconductance of the unit-gain inverter, as given by:

$$\tau_{AZ} = \frac{C_C + C_{\text{int}}}{g_{\text{mn}} + g_{\text{mp}}} \approx \frac{C_C + C_{\text{int}}}{2g_{\text{mn}}}$$
(3-7)

¹It could also be designed in the other way around, i.e. using a slow-settling process to reduce the noise-folding introduced by the auto-zeroing operation [7].



Figure 3-8: Operation principle of auto-zeroed inverter

For example, with $g_{\rm mn} \approx 50 \mu \text{S}$, $C_C = 2 \text{pF}$ and $C_{\rm int} = 500 \text{fF}$, the minimal time required for auto-zeroing operation can be estimated as:

$$T_{AZ} \ge 10\tau_{AZ} \approx 25$$
ns (3-8)

which is equivalent to an auto-zeroing frequency of 20MHz. This is relatively fast compared to the data sampling rate in traditional I&M applications, which is normally slower than 1MS/s [54][55][56].

The optimization of the auto-zeroing time is meaningful for the reduction of the unnecessary static power consumption caused by the auto-zeroed inverter. The multi-phase characteristics of the zero-crossing based charge-transfer enable the smart control of the autozeroing duty cycle, especially in self-timed implementations, as will be shown in Chapter 4 and Chapter 5.

Figure 3-9 shows the changing output voltage and biasing current of a typical inverterbased preamplifier during auto-zeroing and unidirectional charge-transfer phase. It's assumed that the preamplifier is deliberately designed to operate in the "sweet corner" that has been indicated in Figure 2-6 and the supply voltage is chosen to be $V_{DD,opt}$ as presented in (3-4).

Master of Science Thesis



Figure 3-9: (a)Preamplifier output voltage (b) Current flowing in the preamplifier inverter

When the preamplifier output voltage is still far away from the threshold voltage $(V_C)^2$, the current flowing in the CMOS inverter is much smaller than the short circuit current (I_{peak}) , resulting in a small overall transconductance (g_{m}) . As the preamplifier output voltage approaches V_C in an integrator-like fashion, the current increases gradually and finally reaches I_{peak} around the zero-crossing instant. That is to say, the g_{m} of the inverter-based transconductance amplifier is only maximized when it is needed most. As has been interpreted in Section 3-1, the above inherent dynamic biasing capacity makes the inverter-based preamplifer more power-efficient than traditional ones based on class-A amplifiers. This mechanism is a bit similar with the capacitor-coupled dynamic biasing technique that has been used in opamp-based ZCDs [2], but possesses an extra beauty that no auxiliary circuits is required.

3-4-3 Further Improvement: Dynamic Power-Down

The energy-efficiency of inverter-based zero-crossing detectors can be further improved by introducing dynamic power-down. Figure 3-10 shows the circuit-level architecture of a dynamically powered-down ZCD and the corresponding timing diagram.

Since the wide-band detectors are not functioning during the sampling (auto-zeroing) phase, they can be powered down during Φ_1 to save the possible power dissipation caused by the non-logical-level voltage of V_{int} . What's more, it's also feasible to shut down the preamplifier in a portion of Φ_1 as it does not necessarily need to be auto-zeroed throughout the entire sampling phase. As such, the only static power consumption contributed by the

 $^{^{2}}$ In the entire coarse charging phase and at the beginning of the fine charging phase.



Figure 3-10: (a)Implementation of dynamic powered-down ZCD (b) Timing diagram of dynamic power-down

ZCD during Φ_1 comes from the auto-zeroing operation, whose duration time is also controlled as aforementioned.

The power-down operation can be realized by connecting a MOSFET switch in series with the inverter, as shown in Figure 3-10(a).

3-5 Non-ideal Effects

Silicon-based integrated circuits are by no means perfect but always suffer from a variety of non-ideal effects, such as interference noise and parasitics. For zero-crossing detectors implemented with auto-zeroed CMOS inverters, the major problem comes from the parasitic capacitors and the power supply noise. Without careful design considerations, these problems are likely to constrain the performance of ZCB integrators. Therefore, special attention is paid to these issues in this section.

3-5-1 Parasitic Capacitors

Figure 3-11 illustrates the distribution of parasitic capacitors in an inverter-based ZCB integrator. The one at the virtual ground node, C_{p1} , is caused by the joint parasitic capacitance of C_S , C_I and the connected MOSFET switches. The other one, C_{p2} , mainly comes from



Figure 3-11: Parasitic capacitors in inverter-based ZCB integrator

the overlap parasitic capacitance at the gates of the inverter transistors (PMOS and NMOS), as well as the parasitic capacitance associated with C_C . The existence of C_{p2} changes the impedance condition at the inverter input, making C_C no longer floating during the chargetransfer process. As a result, the voltage overshoots at nodes V_X and V_G are no longer identical. The series connection of C_C and C_{p2} forms a voltage divider, giving:

$$\Delta V_{OVG} = \frac{C_C}{C_C + C_{\rm p2}} \Delta V_{OVX} \tag{3-9}$$

The effect of C_{p1} and C_{p2} on the charge-transfer accuracy can be investigated via the charge conservation on V_X , as follows:

$$(V_{CM} - V_{in})C_S + V_{CM}C_{p1} + (V_{CM} - V_{G0})C_C - Q_n$$

= $(V_{CM} - \Delta V_{OVX})C_{p1} + \left[(V_{CM} - \Delta V_{OVX}) - (V_{G0} - \Delta V_{OVG}) \right]C_C - \Delta V_{OVX}C_S - Q_{n+1}$
(3-10)

where Q_n and Q_{n+1} represent the stored charge on C_I in the *n*-th and the (n+1)-th cycles, respectively.

By substituting (3-9) into (3-10), the amount of charge that is converted to the integration capacitor in each cycle can be derived as:

$$Q_{n+1} - Q_n = \underbrace{\left(V_{in} - V_{CM} - \Delta V_{OVX}\right)C_S}_{\text{Original}} - \underbrace{\Delta V_{OVX}\left(C_{p1} + \frac{C_{p2}C_C}{C_{p2} + C_C}\right)}_{\text{Parasitic capacitor induced}}$$
(3-11)

where the first term on the right-hand side of the equation represents the transferred charge in each cycle including the original error charge described in (2-30) and (2-31), and the second term represents the error charge introduced by the parasitic capacitors.

Thus, when taking the impacts of parasitic capacitors into account, the effective inputreferred error voltage turns out to be

$$\Delta V'_{OVX} = \Delta V_{OVX} \left[1 + \frac{C_{\rm p1}}{C_S} + \frac{C_{\rm p2}C_C}{(C_{\rm p2} + C_C)C_S} \right]$$
(3-12)

Chao Chen

CONFIDENTIAL

Expression (3-12) reveals the fact that the original virtual ground overshoot is magnified by a parasitic-associated factor due to the existence of C_{p1} and C_{p2} . This effect can be nonnegligible in energy-constrained designs where the sampling capacitors are usually aggressively downsized. For example, with $C_S = 0.5 \text{pF}$, $C_C = 2 \text{pF}$, $C_{p1} = 30 \text{fF}$ and $C_{p2} = 100 \text{fF}^3$, the increment of ΔV_{OVX} caused by parasitic capacitors is around 25%. Particularly, the magnification of the signal-dependent portion in ΔV_{OVX} , which has been discussed in Section 2-3, deteriorates the non-linearity issue of ZCB integrators.

To alleviate the above problem, a careful control on the parasitic capacitance is required. The value of C_{p1} is mainly dependent on the process parameters and the layout methodology, while that of C_{p2} is more revelent to the circuit design strategy. As mentioned in Chapter 2, the dimensions of ZCD input transistors are preferred to be large in the consideration of noise performance. This is, however, conflicting with the minimization of C_{p2} for the purpose of preventing linearity deterioration. Consequently, it's necessary to strike a balance between noise and linearity on the sizing choice of inverter input transistors.

3-5-2 Power Supply Noise Rejection

Power supply noise is normally regarded as the most critical interference noise source for inverter-based analog circuits due to the poor power supply rejection ratio (PSRR) of the inverter structure [7]. As depicted in Figure 3-12, an inverter-based transconductance amplifier operating in the steady-state can be approximatively modeled as a resistor divider, and hence its intrinsic PSRR is only about 6dB. This feature does restrict the application of inverters in many analog circuits where a clean power supply is unavailable or costly [48] ⁴.



Figure 3-12: Estimation of power supply rejection ratio of steady-state inverter-based amplifier $(R_{\rm p} \approx R_{\rm n})$

Fortunately, the power supply noise rejection ability of ZCB integrators utilizing inverterbased ZCDs and the aforementioned CLS technique can be, to some extent, rescued by the following mechanisms:

⁴To obtain clean power supply, the traditional solution is either using low noise voltage regulators or applying aggressive on-chip supply bypassing. However, the former solution increases the system complexity, while the latter one is usually area-hungry.

³The parasitic capacitor values are estimated on the basis of NXP $0.16\mu m$ CMOS technology [49].

• Auto-zeroing of the inverter-based preamplifier in the ZCD.

As has been discussed in Section 2-2-2, the auto-zeroing technique is effective in cancelling low-frequency noise. This is also valid for the elimination of the noise on the power supply line [7], as the bandwidth of power supply noise can be easily limited to lower than 100kHz by the filtering effect of bypassing capacitors [57];

• Correlated level shifting.

The utilization of correlated level shifting technique provides a supplementary improvement to the overall PSRR of a ZCB integrator. This fact has been theoretically analyzed in [47]. As an intuitive interpretation, the correlated level shifting capacitor (see Figure 2-17) establishes a capacitive isolation between the integrator output and the fine current source, thus partially obstructing the possible output disturbance from lowfrequency power supply noise. Therefore, a smaller correlated level shifting capacitor is advantageous for improving the PSRR, but simultaneously degrades the linearity performance for the reason discussed in Section 2-5-2.

• Noise shaping in the $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator.

The impact of power supply noise can be further attenuated when the ZCB integrator is adopted in $\Delta\Sigma$ modulators [7][58]. As a brief proof, consider the classical secondorder Boser-Wooley $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator in Figure 3-13. The power supply noise (P_{n1}, P_{n2}) is injected into the $\Delta\Sigma$ loop-filter at the output of the integrators, thus enjoying a similar noise-shaping characteristic as the quantization noise (Q_n) . Specifically, P_{n1} is first-order shaped to the high frequency range (20dB/dec), while P_{n2} is shaped with the second order (40dB/dec). More generally, in a k-th order $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator containing k integrators, the power supply noise in the j-th ($0 < j \leq k$) integrator is suppressed by a j-th order noise-shaping. As is the same with quantization noise, the attenuation ratio of in-band power supply noise is proportional to the oversampling ratio (OSR) [59]. This feature is particularly favorable for applications of incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs because of their feasibility for ultra aggressive oversampling [11], as will be explained in Chapter 4. An OSR of 500 (10^{2.7}), for instance, can bring about a PSRR increment of at least 40dB to a first-stage integrator with unity scaling coefficient [7].



Figure 3-13: Power supply noise in a second-order Boser-Wooley $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator [7]

• Differential architecture.

When applied in pseudo/fully-differential structures, the power supply rejection ability of ZCB integrators only depends on the circuit mismatches [7]. With a well mismatch control by means of good layout engineering, the impact of power supply noise can be significantly compressed.
The cooperation of the above mechanisms improves the overall power supply noise immunity of ZCB integrators. With the aid of the periodical steady-state (PSS) and the periodical transfer function (PXF) analysis in SpectreRF [60], the effectiveness of the auto-zeroing and the CLS technique on the power supply noise can be readily demonstrated. Figure 3-14 shows the simulated frequency response of PSRR of a single-ended CLS-assisted inverter-based ZCB integrator. As can be seen from the figure, the combined effects of the auto-zeroing and the CLS technique increase the PSRR by more than 10dB. Besides, the PSRR gets better with a smaller correlated level shifting capacitor, which agrees with the theoretical analysis. Taking into account the additional improvement from the loop-filter noise-shaping and the differential-mode noise attenuation, the overall PSRR of the inverter-based ZCB integrator can be enhanced to around 50~60dB⁵, which is adequate for most applications.



Figure 3-14: Simulated power supply gain (the inverse of PSRR in dB number) of a ZCB integrator utilizing inverter-based ZCD and CLS technique

The common ground of all the discussed mechanisms is that the poor PSRR of the simple inverter architecture is tolerated. Indeed, the intrinsic PSRR of the inverter can also be improved. This task is done by introducing a current source between the power supply and the PMOS transistor, forming a current-starved inverter [56] (Figure 3-15(a))⁶. The high output impedance of the tail current source makes the bias point of the inverter insensitive to the power supply, hence increases the associated noise immunity. Simulation

⁵This is still a conservative estimation.

⁶Current-starved inverter is not a brand new architecture indeed. Before [56], it has been widely applied in frequency generation (VCO) or locking (PLL) [61], where it plays as a delay element.



Figure 3-15: Current-starved inverter-based transconductance amplifiers

result shows that the intrinsic PSRR of a current-starved inverter can be easily boosted to above 60dB. Furthermore, another tail current source can be inserted between the NMOS transistor and the ground [62] (Figure 3-15(b)), thus suppressing the possible disturbance from the substrate noise. The drawback of the current-starving technique is the sacrifices of voltage headroom. In order to ensure the proper functioning of the tail current source, an increase of the optimal supply voltage relative to (3-4) is often required, which may degrade the low voltage amenability of inverter-based ZCDs.

3-6 Summary

This chapter has presented an energy-efficient ZCD architecture adopting CMOS inverters as the building elements. When used as an analog functioning element such as a tranconductance amplifier, the CMOS inverter displays a number of attractive properties, such as the amenability to low supply voltages, doubled current efficiency in the steady-state and inherent dynamic biasing capacity in large-signal operations. These features make the CMOS inverter an excellent candidate for many low-power low-voltage switched-capacitor applications, as has been introduced in this chapter.

The inverter-based ZCD utilizes an auto-zeroed inverter as the preamplifier, while a simple inverter chain serves as the wide-band detector. Their operation principles have been intensively described. To further improve the energy-efficiency, the inverters in both stages can be powered-down dynamically.

The inverter-based ZCD suffers from non-ideal effects caused by parasitic capacitors and the limited intrinsic PSRR of inverters. The parasitic capacitors may deteriorate the non-linearity problem of ZCB circuits described in Chapter 2, while the PSRR issue can be addressed by a series of auxiliary mechanisms or adopting the current-starving technique. Some simulation results have also been presented to demonstrate their effectiveness.

Chapter 4

Self-timed Incremental $\Delta \Sigma$ ADC

This chapter discusses the design of the self-timed incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC. Unlike conventional $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs, it does not require any dedicated clock signals, thus saving energy consumption and reducing system complexity. To realize the self-timed operation, the integrators in the $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator are implemented with the zero-crossing based switched-capacitor circuit, which has been introduced in the previous chapters. Via a handshaking protocol with these ZCB integrators, an on-chip asynchronous digital state machine is able to trigger the charge-balancing progress from one cycle to the next, thus eliminating the need for external driving clocks.

To start with, this chapter gives a brief introduction to the working principle of the incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC. Specifically, the system-level design of a second-order modulator used in this project and the associated decimation filter are discussed. That is followed by a description of the self-timed operation in detail, including its timing procedure and the custom design of the digital state machine. A short summary is given at the end.

4-1 Incremental $\Delta \Sigma$ ADC

The incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC is a special type of $\Delta\Sigma$ converter designed for static or quasistatic signal measurements [63] [64]. It is able to achieve excellent performance in the absolute accuracy of sample-to-sample conversions, namely resolution, linearity, offset and gain errors [8]. In contrast to conventional $\Delta\Sigma$ audio or radio converters where digitization is performed continuously, an incremental ADC converts each individual sample to a stream of binary pulses (bitstream), usually in a charge-balancing fashion, and takes the average or decimated value as the digitized output. Therefore, it is also referred to as an "single-shot $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC" or a "charge-balancing $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC" in the literature [65][38].

The theory of incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs has been intensively discussed in [11]. As such, this section will mainly focus on the design considerations of the incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ converter that is to be used in the prototype. But first, the basic operation principle of such ADCs will be briefly reviewed.

Master of Science Thesis

4-1-1 Basic Principle

The first incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC was proposed in [66] as a alternative to the Nyquist-rate dual-slope converter, in a first-order architecture. Its conversion principle is similar to the dual-slope one in terms of applying charge-balancing, i.e. using the input and the reference to charge /discharge a capacitor so that the stored charge achieves a state of equilibrium. The main difference between both lies in the integration sequence of the input and the reference signals: while being separated from each other in the dual-slope converter, they are interleaved in the first-order incremental ADC [8].



Figure 4-1: Block diagram of a first-order incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC

As illustrated in Figure 4-1 [8], a first-order incremental ADC consists of a first-order $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator with a resettable switched-capacitor integrator, as well as a back-end digital counter which performs as a simple sinc filter. At the beginning of each conversion, the integrator and the counter are both reset, after which a predefined number of integration cycles ($N = 2^{n \text{ bits}}$) are performed, where n is the designed digitization resolution in bits. In each cycle, a charge packet with a fixed size determined by the reference signal is either pumped to the input capacitor or not, depending on the sign of the quantizer output. Thus, a feedback loop is established to help achieve the charge-balanced state. At the same time, the conversion is accomplished, the digital representation of the input signal can be derived from the ratio between the input signal and the reference:

$$\mu_{\text{out}} = \frac{V_{\text{in}}}{V_{\text{ref}}} = \frac{N_{FB}}{N} + \frac{\epsilon_Q}{N}$$
(4-1)

where $\epsilon_Q \in [-0.5, 0.5]$ is the quantization error [11].

As is the case with dual-slope converters [67], first-order incremental ADCs suffer from the conversion speed limitation due to the fact that 2^n cycles are needed for a *n* bits conversion. This problem is resolved with the invention of higher-order incremental ADCs, as proposed in [68]. By replacing the first-order $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator in Figure 4-1 with a second- or higher-order

one, leading to Figure 4-2, the required number of cycles can be dramatically reduced [64]¹. Correspondingly, the first-order sinc filter (counter) should be replaced with a higher-order digital decimation filter [11]. Their detailed operation principle will be explained in Section 4-1-2 and Section 4-1-3 by the case of a second-order incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC, which is to be used in the prototype chip.



Figure 4-2: Block diagram of a higher-order incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC [8]

It is noteworthy that incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs distinguish themselves from conventional $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs in the following aspects [8]:

- Being designed for one-shot conversions of slowly varying signals, the $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator in the incremental ADC does not operate continuously, and the analog integrator as well as the decimation filter are both reset after each conversion. This is for the sake of preventing the possible performance degradation due to limit cycles (or pattern noise) associated with DC excitations [59];
- The incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC shares similar oversampling characteristics as the conventional $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC. In the latter case, the resolution and noise performance can be improved by increasing the ratio between the sampling frequency and the signal bandwidth. However, in incremental ADCs whose input signal frequency is around DC, the same improvement can only be obtained by increasing the number of internal cycles instead of extending the sampling frequency. As such, the number of internal cycles can be regarded as the equivalent oversampling ratio (OSR), albeit in time-domain. This is an apparent advantage, because the increase of the OSR does not necessarily be restricted by the maximum frequency achievable of the specified technology, and extremely high resolution for DC-measurement can be easily achieved [12];
- In conventional $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs, the spectral behaviour of the decimation process, such as the rejection ability of out-band noise and the steepness of the roll-off [71], is of special concern and usually adds to the design complexity. By contrast, the decimation filter

¹A number of other approaches have been proposed to reduce the conversion time. For example, SAR or other algorithmic converters were implemented at the end of the $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator to further digitize the residual error [69][70], which are named as extended-range or extended-counting ADCs. They are out of scope of this thesis.

of the incremental ADC can be implemented with a far simpler architecture compared with that in conventional $\Delta\Sigma$ converters [8]. More details will be discussed in Section 4-1-3;

As the timing methodology is concerned, incremental ADCs are perfectly suited for self-timed implementations because of their transient-mode operation principle and the DC-measuring characteristic. In conventional ΔΣ ADCs, however, the self-timed operation inevitably results in non-uniform sampling, i.e. taking samples with non-equal-space in time. Its analysis calls for a more generalized version of the Shannon sampling theorem [72], which is still an advanced research topic in the field of signal processing [73].

4-1-2 $\Delta \Sigma$ Modulator Design

This section discusses the design of a second-order incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator which is to be used in the prototype ADC. As a proof-of-concept, the design starts from the classical Boser-Wooley structure [74], as shown in Figure 4-3. This modulator consists of two cascaded half-delay integrators and a single-bit quantizer, as well as a feedback DAC. The values of modulator coefficients (a_1 , a_2 and b) are derived from [59]².



Figure 4-3: Block diagram of a second-order Boser-Wooley modulator

Similar with the first-order modulator, both integrators in the second-order modulator are reset before the conversion starts. Within the conversion time, the modulator input signal V_{in} is assumed as constant. The output samples of the first and second integrators ($w_1[i]$ and $w_2[i]$, respectively) can be derived based on the iterative relationships in the time domain, as given by

$$w_1[i] = w_1[i-1] + a_1 V_{\rm in} - a_1 y[i] V_{\rm ref}$$
(4-2)

and

$$w_2[i] = w_2[i-1] + a_2 w_1[i] - a_2 b \cdot y[i] V_{\text{ref}}$$
(4-3)

where *i* is the sample time index, $y[i] = \pm 1$ is the single-bit quantizer output at the *i*-th sample and V_{ref} is the feedback reference voltage.

²In Boser-Wooley modulator, a coefficient ratio of $b/a_1 = 2$ should be maintained to achieve the desired signal transfer function (STF) and noise transfer function (NTF) [59].

The non-iterative expressions at the *n*-th sample can be obtained by summing all the items from i = 1 to i = n, resulting in

$$w_1[n] = a_1 n \cdot V_{\text{in}} - a_1 \sum_{i=1}^n y[i] \cdot V_{\text{ref}}$$
(4-4)

and

$$w_2[n] = a_1 a_2 \sum_{i=1}^n i \cdot V_{\text{in}} - a_1 a_2 \sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{j=1}^i y[j] \cdot V_{\text{ref}} - a_2 b \sum_{i=1}^n y[i] \cdot V_{\text{ref}}$$
(4-5)

Thereby, after M cycles the residual error at the output of the second integrator becomes

$$w_2[M] = a_1 a_2 \frac{M(M+1)}{2} \cdot V_{\text{in}} - a_1 a_2 \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^M \sum_{j=1}^i y[j] + \frac{b}{a_1} \sum_{i=1}^M y[i] \right\} \cdot V_{\text{ref}}$$
(4-6)

By rearranging (4-6), one gets the ratio between the input signal and the reference:

$$\frac{V_{\rm in}}{V_{\rm ref}} = \frac{2}{M(M+1)} \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{M} \sum_{j=1}^{i} y[j] + \frac{b}{a_1} \sum_{i=1}^{M} y[i] \right\} + \frac{2}{a_1 a_2 M(M+1)} \cdot \frac{w_2[M]}{V_{\rm ref}}$$
(4-7)

Owing to the modulator stability, $w_2[M]$ is bounded within the range of $[-V_{\text{ref}}, +V_{\text{ref}}]$. Hence, as long as $M \gg 1$, the second term in the right-hand side of expression (4-7) is negligible, and an estimation of $V_{\text{in}}/V_{\text{ref}}$ can be found as

$$\frac{\widetilde{V}_{\text{in}}}{V_{\text{ref}}} = \frac{2}{M(M+1)} \bigg\{ \sum_{i=1}^{M} \sum_{j=1}^{i} y[j] + \frac{b}{a_1} \sum_{i=1}^{M} y[i] \bigg\}$$
(4-8)

where $\frac{b}{a_1}$ equals to 2. The remained error of the above estimation is

$$E_Q = V_{\rm in} - \tilde{V}_{\rm in} = \frac{2}{a_1 a_2 M (M+1)} w_2[M]$$
(4-9)

which can be regarded as an analog form of the quantization error [8]. Moreover, for an ideal noiseless analog-to-digital converter, the value of E_Q should be restricted by the extent of one LSB voltage, leading to

$$\frac{4}{a_1 a_2 M(M+1)} V_{\text{ref}} \leqslant V_{LSB} \tag{4-10}$$

where V_{LSB} can be derived based on the effective number of bits (ENOB) [67]:

$$V_{LSB} = \frac{2V_{\text{ref}}}{2^{ENOB}} \tag{4-11}$$

The combination of (4-10) and (4-11) can be employed in estimating the required number of cycles (M) for a specified ENOB. For instance, in order to achieve a 14-bit performance, M should be larger than 512. Further trimming is often required based on this estimation. On one hand, it is ideally conservative since the full swing of $w_2[M]$ is only a portion of $2V_{\text{ref}}$ due to stability concerns. On the other hand, in practical design the quantization error needs

Master of Science Thesis

to be further suppressed when noise and other interference are concerned, hence the required number of cycles usually gets larger.

On the basis of the above analysis, the behavior of the incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator can be modeled in MATLAB with custom-written codes. Figure 4-4 (a) plots the simulated quantization error with 14-bit scale, which corresponds to 500 cycles³. As illustrated, the variation of the quantization error is within [-0.5LSB, +0.5LSB], which agrees well with (4-9) and (4-10). Its trend of going negative along the normalized input axis is associated with the input-dependence of w[M].

The maximum output ranges (represented by the upper and lower limits) of the first and second analog integrators across the normalized input range are also investigated, with results presented in Figure 4-4 (b) and (c). It can be found that the average output of the first integrator (the dashed line in Figure 4-4(b)) is not remained zero (half-level of the full-scale). This is a particular case for distributed-feedback modulators with a constant input [38][59]. To null the input of the second integrator thus ensure the stability, the output of the first integrator should be proportional to $bV_{\rm in}$ [38]. The resulted increase of the peak-to-peak

³The decimation process performed in these simulations essentially adopts the methodology of "matched" digital filters, as will be discussed in Section 4-1-3.



Figure 4-4: Behavior of the second-order incremental Boser-Wooley $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator based on MATLAB simulations. (a) Row-1: quantization error versus normalized input range (14bit scale, 500 cycles); (b): output range of the first analog integrator versus normalized input range; (c): output range of the second analog integrator versus normalized input range.

Chao Chen

CONFIDENTIAL



Figure 4-5: Block diagram of a second-order Boser-Wooley modulator with a input-feedforward path.

output swing of the first integrator is likely to degrade the circuit performance (e.g. power consumption and linearity) in practical implementations [75].

To stabilize the output of the first integrator, an input-feedforward path with a scaling coefficient of b is added across the first integrator [38], as shown in Figure 4-5. Thereby, the output sample of the second integrator becomes

$$w_2'[i] = w_2[i-1] + a_2w_1[i] + a_2b \cdot V_{\rm in} - a_2b \cdot y[i]V_{\rm ref}$$
(4-12)

which leads to the non-iterative expression

$$w_{2}'[n] = \left\{a_{1}a_{2}\sum_{i=1}^{n}i + a_{2}b \cdot n\right\} \cdot V_{\text{in}} - \left\{a_{1}a_{2}\sum_{i=1}^{n}\sum_{j=1}^{i}y[j] + a_{2}b\sum_{i=1}^{n}y[i]\right\} \cdot V_{\text{ref}}$$
(4-13)

at the *n*-th sample. The new estimation of $V_{\rm in}/V_{\rm ref}$ after *M* samples can be derived in a similar way to (4-6)~(4-9), as given by

$$\frac{\tilde{V}_{\rm in}}{V_{\rm ref}}' = \frac{2a_1}{a_1 M (M+1) + 2b \cdot M} \bigg\{ \sum_{i=1}^M \sum_{j=1}^i y[j] + \frac{b}{a_1} \sum_{i=1}^M y[i] \bigg\}$$
(4-14)

while the new quantization error is

$$E'_Q = \frac{2}{a_1 a_2 M(M+1) + 2a_2 bM} w_2[M]$$
(4-15)

where $w_2[M]$ is bounded by $[-V_{ref}, +V_{ref}]$ as before.

With the modified structure, the quantization error as well as the output swings of the analog integrators are re-simulated and presented in Figure 4-6. As expected, the averaged output of the first integrator is stabilized, while the quantization error remains unchanged.

4-1-3 Decimation Filter Deisgn

As shown in Figure 4-2, a digital decimation filter following the analog modulator is required for the re-construction of the signal and the attenuation of out-of-band components, such as

Master of Science Thesis



Figure 4-6: Behavior of the second-order incremental Boser-Wooley $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator with a input feedforward path based on MATLAB simulations. (a): quantization error versus normalized input range (14-bit scale, 500 cycles); (b): output range of the first analog integrator versus normalized input range; (c): output range of the second analog integrator versus normalized input range.

quantization error, circuit noise and other interference [58]. For an incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator operating for M cycles, the decimation filter is essentially a finite impulse response (FIR) filter with length M [38]. In the practical design of high-order architectures, the choice of the decimation filter topology may have an influence on the ADC's resolution due to the existence of circuit noise and non-linearity. In view of this, an investigation of the system design approaches for high-order decimation filters is presented in this section. For design flexibility, the decimation filter in the prototype ADC is implemented based on a commercial field-programmable gate array (FPGA) device.

The most straightforward approach is to use a digital decimation filter with a "matched" impulse response with that of the analog loop-filter [38]. As revealed by expression (4-14), the input voltage of a second-order incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC can be synchronously reconstructed at the output of the modulator, with the aid of a digital filter consisting of two cascaded digital integrators and a input-feedforward path, as shown in Figure 4-7. Such topology is also referred to as cascade of integrators (CoI) [64]. Since both digital integrators operate in the transient mode and keep pace with their analog counterparts, the possible conversion latency associated with the decimation process can be eliminated.



Figure 4-7: Block diagram of a back-end digital filter and a decimator corresponding to (4-14)

The advantage of the CoI structure is its hardware efficiency. As interpreted by Figure 4-7, a CoI filter can be simply implemented with counters and accumulators. Its main drawback, however, is the poor capacity in the rejection of periodical noise, such as 50Hz noise from the supply [64] or dynamic noise caused by chopping or dynamic element matching (DEM) in the analog circuits [38]. This is essentially caused by the lack of notches in the frequency response of the CoI filters [38]. When the ADC's performance is limited by those periodical noise, a higher-order sinc^k filter can be used [64]. It can provide a better suppression on the spurious noise with the penalty of increased circuit complexity.

For the prototype design in this thesis, a simple CoI filter is adequate for achieving the targeted performance, due to the fact that no chopping or DEM is applied to the analog signal path, and the power supply of the chip is derived from a low-noise low-dropout regulators (LDO) (see Chapter 6). Higher-order sinc^k filters might be needed in future implementations which employ more novel dynamic error-cancellation circuit techniques.

4-1-4 Circuit Implementations

Figure 4-8 shows the circuit implementation of the described incremental second-order $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator in Figure 4-5. As proposed in the introductory chapter, the discrete-time integrators are deliberately realized with the discussed zero-crossing based switched-capacitor circuit, thus making it feasible to run the modulator in a self-timed way. A dynamic comparator following the cascaded integrators (see Chapter 5) is employed to perform the 1-bit quantization and control the charge-balancing procedure.

Different feedback strategies are chosen for the two integrators: a feedback capacitor C_{FB} and the associated S/H network is applied to the second integrator to realize the local-feedback coefficient b; on the contrary, as the feedback to the first integrator is "apparent" to the input signal, it's recommended to adopt the second scheme in Figure 2-12 to minimize the input-referred kT/C noise⁴. In addition to that, a capacitor C_F across the first integrator is included to implement the input-feedforward path.

⁴The elimination of the feedback capacitor can also reduce the gain-error caused by capacitor mismatches. However, this improvement is to some extent counteracted by the effect of the signal-dependent voltage-drop on the feedback switches (Section 2-3-2).



Figure 4-8: Circuit implementation of the proposed second-order incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator

All the switched-control signals shown in Figure 4-8 are self-generated on the prototype chip via the mixed-signal handshaking and the asynchronous state machine (ASM). The timing procedure and implementation details of the ASM will be described in the next section.

4-2 Self-Timed Operation

This section describes the self-timed operation principle and the associated digital circuitry realizations. As aforementioned in Chapter 2, the zero-crossing based circuit offers the feasibility of detecting the completion of the charge-transfer process. The output decisions of the zero-crossing detectors, which are logic-level signals, can be utilized as the triggering events for the state transitions in an asynchronous state-machine. Based on this principle, the $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator presented in Figure 4-8 can operate without any external timing-control signals, or clocks. Its timing sequence is hence self-ordered according to the actual manufacturing and operating conditions in the analog circuitry, which is theoretically the most efficient timing methodology. To achieve this, a workable and robust asynchronous state-machine is required.

4-2-1 Asynchronous State-Machine

The general idea of a self-timed $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator is in a sense analogous to a ping-pong game. For a second-order modulator with cascaded half-delay integrators, the minimal duration time required for each phase is usually dominated by the charge-transfer process of the corresponding integrator. This condition is tenable as long as the on-resistance of the switches associated with the sampling settling is small enough (see expression (1-1)), leading to a relative fast sampling with respect to the charge-transfer. Fortunately, this is a common case in most I&M applications [11]. Inspired by this fact, one can design a smart "event-controller" to alternatively monitor the charge-transfer progress of each integrator, and determine the critical instants for phase transitions, as depicted in Figure 4-9. Such an event-controller can be readily implemented with an asynchronous state-machine, which operates in a cycle of two

Chao Chen

CONFIDENTIAL



Figure 4-9: 2-phase timing principle of a self-timed zero-crossing based $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator.

time-interleaved states: Φ_1 (State-A) and Φ_2 (State-B). They are triggered by each other in a ping-pong manner, and ended by the completion signals from the zero-crossing detectors of the analog modulator, thus removing the time redundancy existing in Figure 2-2. Due to this characteristic, Φ_1 and Φ_2 are inherently non-overlapped with each other.

Figure 4-10 shows the block diagram of the self-timed incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC with the described asynchronous state-machine. In order to make the incremental analog-to-digital conversion operating in a one-shot fashion, an initial start-up excitation and a conversion-cycle control are both included. The latter can be realized by a internal cycle-counter triggered by self-generated phase clocks. After operating for M cycles, the counter sends a termination signal to the state-machine and reset all memory elements (e.g. analog integrators in the modulator and digital registers in the decimation filter). On the other hand, the implementation of the start-up signal which kicks-off the state-machine can rely on certain kinds of burst information embodied in the input signal, such as the threshold-crossing of temperature. This mechanism can vary with different applications, depending on the property of the measured signal. In this way, the converter is only "waked up" when requested, which saves energy.

Figure 4-11 shows the overall timing diagram with details of the self-timed control signals of one of the integrators in the modulator (the other one operates identically). Regarding the multi-phase characteristic of zero-crossing based charge-transfer, the internal timing control in each phase state (Φ_1 and Φ_2) should be self-ordered as well. As stated in Chapter 2, the transition from the coarse charging phase to the fine charging phase is inherently self-timed even in synchronous implementations, as it is triggered by the early-threshold detection signal. However, the preset phase, which has a short but fixed duration time, is usually defined by external clocks and hence obstructs the realization of purely self-timed operation. A way to generate a self-timed preset signal is to insert a constant time-slot between the rising edge of the charge-transfer phase and the start moment of the actual charge-transfer process (Φ_1 _{CT}

Master of Science Thesis



Figure 4-10: Block diagram of the proposed self-timed incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC with an asynchronous state-machine.



Figure 4-11: Timing diagram of the proposed self-timed incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC

Chao Chen

CONFIDENTIAL

in Figure 4-11). The length of the time-slot should fulfill the following condition:

$$\Delta T_P > N \cdot \tau_P, \ \tau_P = 2R_{\text{preset}}C_{\text{total}} \tag{4-16}$$

where R_{preset} is the on-resistance of the preset switch, C_{Total} is the total capacitance at the integrator output and N ranges from 5 to 7⁵. In circuit implementations, this time-slot can be configured as a controlled delay element, as will be discussed in the next section.

4-2-2 Self-Timed Logic Elements

The correct operation of the proposed self-timed ADC requires a strict ordering of signal events occurring in both analog and digital domain, as indicated by the arrows in Figure 4-11. In custom circuit design⁶, this task can be performed by a handshaking logic element, whose macro model and truth table are depicted in Figure 4-12 (a) and (b). Its function is analogous to the famous Muller-C element [76] used in digital self-timed systems [17], except that here only edges of event clocks are detected to ensure the robustness of mixed-signal communication.



Figure 4-12: Basic handshaking element used for self-timed mixed-signal system (a) Macro model (b) Truth table (c) Implementation example

As revealed by the truth table in Figure 4-12, the controlled circuit element (represented by C) must behave in response to different clock edges. Ideally, such type of logic element is equivalent to a D flip-flop (DFF) with double input clocks with different trigger edges. That is, however, difficult to be realized in practice⁷. A feasible solution is to center the logic element

⁵The settling accuracy for the preset is not so critical as for the charge-transfer.

⁶This is with respect to the EDA-assisted automatic synthesis in SoC design flow. In the future work, the automatic synthesis approach may be employed for the implementation of the asynchronous state-machine.

⁷Recall that in synthesizable verilogHDL, a single register-type (reg) variable is not allowed to be assigned in multiple *always* blocks with different sensitivity-list [77].

around a single-clock DFF with asynchronous reset, as presented in Figure 4-12(c). Since the asynchronous reset is level-triggered, a set of properly-designed combinational circuits may be needed to prevent any possible function failure caused by the conflict between the clock and the reset.

Figure 4-13 explains how the proposed logic element works in a mixed-signal self-timed system. As shown in the figure, each handshaking logic element controls an individual state and has two inputs: a completion signal from the analog modules, and an output signal from other handshaking logic elements. Once an element receives a completion signal, it immediately terminates the current state and sends a falling edge to another element, which kicks-off the next state. In this way, the logic elements "shake hands" with each other and establish a self-driven timing sequence.



Figure 4-13: General principle of handshaking operation in self-timed mixed-signals systems using the proposed logic element

As an elaboration of the above concepts, the implementation details of several critical handshaking logic blocks in the asynchronous state-machine are presented below.

Generation of charging process control signals

The control signals for the coarse and fine phase charging process, E_1 and E_2 , are simply generated by a D flip-flop, as depicted in Figure 4-14. They are both triggered by the falling edge of the preset signal, and reset to zero either by the early-threshold crossing decision or by the virtual ground crossing decision.

Generation of Φ_{1_CT}

As shown in Figure 4-11, the control signal Φ_{1_CT} defines the actual charge-transfer period, i.e. the charge-transfer phase without the preset time-slot. Its rising edge is delayed with respect to that of Φ_1 by ΔT_P , while its falling edge is triggered by completions signal of the fine charging phase (E_2). Figure 4-15 depicts the generation circuitry of Φ_{1_CT} , which is based on a DFF and a delay element for the generation of ΔT_P .



Figure 4-14: Logic implementation for the generation of charging phase control signals (a) Coarse phase control (b) Fine phase control



Figure 4-15: Logic implementation for the generation of Φ_{1_CT} (The δ -block represents the preset delay element)

Preset Delay Element

Figure 4-16 presents the circuit diagram of the delay element used in Figure 4-15. It is essentially a logic controlled delay element based on a current-starved inverter, which was first proposed in [9]. Its delay time is a function of the delay capacitor C_{delay} and the current flowing in the core inverter (distinguished by the dashed box), hence can be adjusted by tuning the biasing of the starved current source. The *REQ* port and the set-reset (SR) latch provide a feasibility of asynchronous (or handshaking) control on the delayed output signal, which is the beauty of this structure. It is taken full advantage of in the design of the self-timed logic

Master of Science Thesis



Figure 4-16: Circuit diagram of a low power tunable delay element for preset time-slot generation [9]

circuits, as displayed in Figure 4-15.

4-3 Summary

This chapter has studied the system-level behavior of the proposed self-timed incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC. The discussion is concentrated on two aspects: the system-level design of the incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC, and the operation principle and realization strategy of the self-timed state-machine.

As an attractive candidate for data conversions in I&M applications, the theory and implementation issues of incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs have been intensively analyzed in literature. Therefore, the introduction to the operation principle is kept concise, while more attention is paid to the design of the modulator and the associated decimation filter. A second-order $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator with a classical topology has been mathematically analyzed and simulated, which is going to be used in the prototype design. Besides that, a matched digital filter with low cost in hardware has been designed to perform the decimation process.

The transient-mode operation characteristic of the incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC makes it particularly suited for the self-timed operation. That is assisted by zero-crossing based switchedcapacitor circuits introduced in previous chapters, and an asynchronous state-machine described in this chapter. The custom realization of the asynchronous state-machine calls for special logic elements equipped with handshaking functionality. A macro model and a set of implementation instance of such logic elements have also been presented in this chapter.

Chapter 5

Prototype Chip

This chapter describes the implementation details of the self-timed incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC prototype. The design strategies and circuit techniques introduced in previous chapters are employed in the prototype to demonstrate their effectiveness. The chapter starts with a system-level overview of the prototype chip. After that, the implementation details of the sub-blocks in the incremental ADC are discussed, including some auxiliary circuits like the bias generator and the clock boosters. Moreover, a set of design-for-testability (DFT) circuit techniques are also presented. Layout issues are briefly discussed at the end of the chapter.

5-1 System-Level Design

A system-level circuit diagram of the prototype ADC has been illustrated in Figure 4-10. As a proof-of-concept, a single-ended architecture is employed. It has been fabricated in NXP's 1P6M 0.16 μ m CMOS process, which is a shrinked version of a standard 0.18 μ m process [49]. To demonstrate the low-voltage amenability of the proposed structure, a supply voltage of 1V, which roughly equals the sum of the intrinsic threshold voltages of NMOS and PMOS devices in the technology used, is chosen to power both analog and digital circuits in the prototype chip. To enhance the range of the DC input signal, the feedback reference voltages, V_{refn} and V_{refp} , are defined as 0V and 1V, respectively. Accordingly, the common-mode voltage V_{CM} is specified as 0.5V.

As the supply voltage approaches the threshold voltages of the MOS transistors, the implementation of the analog switches in Figure 4-10 can be problematic [75]. While all switches in the analog modulator are NMOS-only transistors, their driving clocks are locally-boosted to around 1.8V to guarantee adequately low on-resistances. Implementation details of the clock-boosters will be introduced in the next section.

The sizing of the sampling capacitors $(C_{S1} \text{ and } C_{S2})$ is based on an estimation of the noise budget, as discussed below. In general, for a N-bit ADC with an input voltage range

Master of Science Thesis

of A[V], the allowed mean-square value of the input-referred noise can be calculated by [67]:

$$\overline{V_n^2} = \frac{A^2}{10^{(6.02N+1.76)/10}}$$
(5-1)

Hence, in order to achieve a 14-bit resolution with a 0.6V (0.2V~0.8V) stable input range¹, we have $\sqrt{\overline{V_n^2}} = 29.9 \mu V$.

In practice, the zero-crossing based incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC suffers not only from quantization errors, but also from other noise sources, such as kT/C noise from the sampling operation and the discussed thermal noise generated by the zero-crossing detectors. A good balance between the contributions of various types of noise sources is able to make the circuit implementation more economical [59], especially in energy. On one hand, an over-attenuated kT/C noise requires an excessively large sampling capacitor, resulting in a large power consumption. On the other hand, it is also not free to suppress the quantization error; making the modulator operate for more cycles inevitably increases the energy consumption. Therefore, it is suggested to achieve a balance between both, while thermal noise can be slightly larger [38]².

For this work, a ratio of 55%:45% between the power of thermal noise and quantization error is chosen, leading to an equivalent quantization noise of 20.1μ V (RMS) and a thermal noise of 22.2μ V (RMS). The formal can be achieved by operating the modulator for 500 cycles, as has been shown in Figure 4-6. The latter is mainly determined by the sizing of the sampling capacitors, as well as the design choices of the zero-crossing detectors and the gated current sources. On the assumption that the noise contributions from the charge-transfer phase are negligible, the minimal value of the first-stage sampling capacitor can be calculated by

$$C_{S,\min} = \frac{kT}{\overline{V_{n,\text{thermal}}^2} \cdot M}$$
(5-2)

With $V_{n,\text{thermal}} = 22.2 \mu \text{V}$ and the number of cycles M = 500, it gives $C_{S,\text{min}} = 0.017 \text{pF}$. Note that this estimation ignores the contribution of ZCDs and the sampled thermal noise in the second stage.

As a conservative design, the sampling capacitor in the first integrator, C_{S1} , is chosen to be 0.5pF. Correspondingly, the sampling capacitor in the second integrator, C_{S2} , is scaled to 0.2pF to save energy.

5-2 Implementation of Sub-Blocks

This section provides a deep view of the sub-block implementation details, including short discussions on the pros and cons of specific design choices.

¹This is a conservative assumption in the design phase.

 $^{^2 \}rm Recommended$ ratios between the power of thermal noise and quantization error includes 50%:50%, 60%:40%, or 70%:30%.

5-2-1 Zero-crossing Detectors with Early-threshold Detection

Figure 5-1 illustrates the schematic of the employed zero-crossing detector. As discussed in Chapter 3, each ZCD consists of an inverter-based preamplifier and two inverter chains that gain up the preamp's output to logic levels representing the zero-crossing detection (D) and an early-threshold detection (DE). All inverters can be dynamically powered-down by turning off the switches controlled by EN_1 and EN_2 . To further save energy, the auto-zeroing (AZ) process of the preamplifier inverter is synchronous with the coarse charge-transfer phase of the other integrator (Chapter 3).

The offset voltage for the early-threshold detection (Figure 2-16) is generated by a levelshifting capacitor C_{off} . In each charge-transfer phase, It is first precharged to a predefined voltage (V_{off}) during the preset time-slot (P), and then inserted between the input nodes of the inverter chains while the charge-transfer is on-going. A predefined voltage V_{off} is generated on-chip, but this can be replaced by a voltage generated using off-chip potentiometers for flexibility.

The sizing of the inverter-based preamplifiers follows the rule of thumb revealed in Section 2-2-1. Table 5-1 lists the simulated specifications of the inverter-based preamplifiers in the first and second integrators, both of which fall in the optimal design region (the "sweet corner") shown in Figure 2-6.



Figure 5-1: Schematic of the zero-crossing detector with early-threshold detection

Master of Science Thesis

Parameters	Symbol	1^{st} Int. Inverter	2^{nd} Int. Inverter
Unity-gain bias current	I_0	$7.6\mu A$	$2.4 \mu A$
Unity-gain transconductance	$g_{ m m}$	$135\mu\mathrm{S}$ $ imes$ 2	$40\mu\mathrm{S}$ $ imes$ 2
Time constant	au	75 ns	75 ns
Response time	t_R	65 ns	$50 \mathrm{ns}$
Band-limit capacitor	C_{int}	$150 \mathrm{fF}$	$30\mathrm{fF}$

Table 5-1: Design parameters and performance of the inverter-based preamplifiers in theZCDs

5-2-2 Gated Current Sources with CLS

Figure 5-2 shows the detailed schematic of the gated current sources with correlated levelshifting. Its operation principle has been extensively explained in Chapter 2. As suggested in Section 2-5-2, a cascoded transistor is introduced in the implementation of the fine current source, which further boosts up the output impedance of the current source and hence improve the charger-transfer linearity.



Figure 5-2: Schematic of the gate current source with correlated leveling shifting

As a trade-off between linearity, noise and power consumption, the correlated levelshifting capacitor (C_{CLS}) is chosen to be 400fF.

5-2-3 Bit-Decision Comparator

A dynamic comparator [10][7] is utilized as the single-bit quantizer in the $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator. As shown in Figure 5-3, this comparator consists of two cascaded stages. This first stage contains a NMOS input pair (M_1, M_2) with a pair of transfer gates (M_3, M_4) , and a regenerative latch formed by crossed-coupled inverters (in dashed box) [78] with precharge switches (M_5, M_6) . The second stage is an S-R latch triggered by the first stage.

The operation flow of this comparator is divided into two steps by the Latch clock. When



Figure 5-3: Schematic of the dynamic bit-decision comparator

Latch is low, M_3 and M_4 are turned off, while at the same time the regenerative latch is reset by the precharge switches M_5 and M_6 . Once Latch goes high, the input voltage difference causes an imbalance in the equivalent resistance of M_1 and M_2 , which drives the regeneration of the crossed-coupled inverter until the final state is reached. This final state is then latched in the second stage and provided as the bit-decision.

The reason for choosing a dynamic comparator as the single-bit quantizer is as follows. Compared with the commonly-used static comparators consisting of preamplifiers [38], the well-known shortage of the described dynamic comparator is the relatively large input-referred offset due to process variations and device mismatches, as well as the kick-back noise caused by large voltage variations on regeneration nodes [79]. When applied in incremental ADCs, however, the offset and noise of the bit-decision comparator are both suppressed by the high loop gain of the $\Delta\Sigma$ loop-filter, as is the case with the quantization error. Therefore, the requirement on the comparison accuracy of the $\Delta\Sigma$ -loop quantizer is much relaxed, and the shortcomings of dynamic comparators can be tolerated. Moreover, the dynamic comparator enjoys a better amenability to the low-voltage (1V or even lower) operation thanks to its dynamic nature, while the lower-limit of the preamplifier supply voltage is critically restricted by the threshold voltages of transistors. Last but not least, the dynamic comparator requires no DC power consumption during operation, which is favorable for energy-efficient designs.

5-2-4 Biasing Circuit

A constant- $g_{\rm m}$ biasing circuit [37] is used to produce the reference current for the gated current sources and the tunable delay element in digital circuits (Figure 4-16). As indicated in Figure 5-4, a pair of NMOS transistors (M_1, M_2) with different dimensions are fed from an equally-sized PMOS current mirror (M_3, M_4) . The difference between the gate-source voltages of M_1 and M_2 produces a bias voltage across the tail resistor $R_{\rm bias}$, thus defining a transconductance that is first-order constant with the supply voltage and the MOS device parameters.

By neglecting the impact of body effects on the transistor threshold voltages, the bias voltage across R_{bias} equals to the difference between the overdrive voltages of M_1 and M_2 . Suppose that both transistors operate in strong inversion, one gets [80]:

$$V_R \approx \sqrt{\frac{2I_{\text{out}}}{\mu_n C_{OX}(W/L)_1}} - \sqrt{\frac{2I_{\text{out}}}{\mu_n C_{OX}(W/L)_2}}$$
(5-3)

where μ_n and C_{OX} represent the carrier mobility and oxide capacitance per square of the NMOS transistors respectively, and $(W/L)_1$ and $(W/L)_2$ are aspect ratios of M_1 and M_2 . Providing that $(W/L)_1 = k \cdot (W/L)_2$, the output current of the bias circuit can be described by [37]:

$$I_{\text{out}} = \frac{1}{R_{\text{bias}}^2} \cdot \frac{2}{\mu_n C_{OX}(W/L)_1} \left(1 - \frac{1}{\sqrt{k}}\right)^2$$
(5-4)

Hence, the transconductance of M_1 is given by

$$g_{m1} = \sqrt{2\mu_n C_{OX} (W/L)_1 I_{out}}$$

= $\frac{2}{R_{bias}} \left(1 - \frac{1}{\sqrt{k}}\right)$ (5-5)

which is independent of the supply voltage and MOS device parameters. In reality, the variation of R_{bias} with temperature and process might slightly degrade the consistency and accuracy of the transconductance achieved.

The value of the output current is chosen in line with the smallest fine-phase charging current, i.e. 100nA. This requires for a relatively large R_{bias} , which can be implemented with serpentine-shape polysilicon resistors in practice.

A low-voltage start-up circuit is included to drive the constant- g_m circuit out of its zerocurrent degenerate bias point [37] when the supply is turned on. Shown in Figure 5-4, this circuit is composed of transistors M_5 , M_6 and M_7 , where M_6 is a narrow and long PMOS device (W/L = 1 : 400) with grounded-gate. Upon start-up, M_6 is turned on immediately and raises the gate voltage of M_5 , thus providing an auxiliary current path from M_4 to ground via M_5 and kicking off the biasing generator. Afterwards, M_7 is turned on as well, which pulls down the gate voltage of M_5 and hence cuts off the auxiliary current path. The static current flowing in the branch of M_6 and M_7 can effectively limited by the large channel resistance of M_7 . What's more, a small Miller capacitor C_M is added across M_6 to prevent undesired ringing artifacts at the start-up moment.

5-2-5 Clock Boosting

To ensure the proper operation of single-transistor switches at low supply voltages, the clockboosting technique [81][75] is applied. Figure 5-5 presents a classical implementation of a single-output clock booster [10]. It consists of a charge-pump circuit with feedback mechanism provided by a pair of cross-coupled NMOS devices (M_1, M_2) [81], as well as an output inverter



Figure 5-4: Schematic of the reference biasing current generator and the associated start-up circuit.

 (M_3, M_4) powered by the boosted voltage. The nwell of M_3 is deliberately connected to its source terminal. When a square-wave input signal with a high voltage at V_{DD} is applied, the voltages on the boosting capacitors (C_{b1}, C_{b2}) are both self-charged to and maintained at V_{DD} , thus generating a copy of the input clock with a doubled voltage $(2V_{DD})$ at the output. In situations where complementary clocks are to be boosted, a dual-output clock booster shown in Figure 5-6 can be applied.

In practice, the actual voltage boost-ratio is affected by the parasitic capacitance at the



Figure 5-5: Schematic of single-output clock booster [10]

Master of Science Thesis



Figure 5-6: Schematic of the clock booster with double outputs

output node, which includes the gate capacitance of the driven NMOS switch(es) (M_{SW}) and the wiring parasitics associated with layout. This effect can be estimated with the equation below [10]:

$$\frac{V_{\text{boost}}}{V_{DD}} = 2 \cdot \left(1 - \frac{C_{\text{p}}}{C_{\text{b2}} + C_{\text{p}}}\right) \tag{5-6}$$

where $C_{\rm p}$ represents the total parasitic capacitance at the output of the clock-booster.

As revealed by (5-6), the existence of $C_{\rm p}$ brings a reduction factor to the voltage boostratio. A possible profit from this side effect is that, the existence of $C_{\rm p}$ might help in ensuring the reliability of the transistor whose ate is driven, M_{SW} , as long as the maximum allowable gate oxide voltage in the specify technology is not larger than two times of the supply voltage³. However, an overhead reduction of the boosted voltage can also dramatically increase the onresistance of M_{SW} , which is definitely undesired. Based on the above considerations, a careful sizing of the boosting capacitors and a valid estimation of the layout parasitics are definitely necessary in practice.

5-3 Design for Testability

A testing-friendly chip should be sufficiently tunable and observable. To increase the accessibility and adjustability of the sub-circuits as well as to enable the chip to work in multiple operation modes, a set of design-for-testability (DFT) circuit techniques is included in the

³This is the case in the design of prototype chip. The maximum allowable gate oxide voltage of the 0.16μ m CMOS technology is 1.95V, while the supply voltage is 1V.

prototype design, which significantly improve the testing efficiency. An overview of these techniques is given in this section.

Analog Output Buffer for Internal-Node Probing

To facilitate observing the voltage waveforms of internal nodes without disturbing the normal circuit operation, such as the output nodes of switched-capacitor integrators and zero-crossing detectors, on-chip analog output buffers are utilized. As illustrated in Figure 5-7, the kernel of such an analog output buffer is a PMOS source-follower (M_{SF}) , which is driven by a constant current source on the testboard. The source of M_{SF} is directly connected to a test I/O pad without any electrostatic discharge (ESD) protective devices⁴. Thereby, the voltage waveform on the gate of M_{SF} can be reproduced at the test I/O pad, albeit level-shifted, which can be readily probed. Regarding the heavy capacitive load on the I/O pad (C_{PAD}) , a large transconductance of M_{SF} is called for to ensure that the source-follower is fast enough to track the probed signal [37].



Figure 5-7: Schematic of the analog output buffer for internal-node probing

To increase the hardware efficiency, multiplexed switches are introduced so that each source-follower (and the associated test I/O pad) can be used for probing multiple internal nodes. These switches are controlled by the corresponding bits in the configuration command (see Table 5-2). When analog probing is not needed, all multiplexed switches can be turned off, and the input of the source-follower is grounded by a NMOS switch (S_{off}) to prevent undesired floating.

Shift-Register for Chip Configuration

A serial-in, parallel-out shift-register with output registers (Figure 5-8(a)) is used for the start-up configuration of the prototype chip. This is an I/O-efficient approach to endow the chip with multi-mode functionality, as only three extra digital I/O pins are needed: a command word serial input (CMD_IN), a command word read-in clock (CMD_CLK) and

 $^{^{4}}$ In other words, the test I/O pad is simply a piece of metal.

a configuration enable trigger (CMD_EN) . The length of the shift-register equals to that of the configuration command word.

Figure 5-8(b) shows the operation timing diagram of the proposed circuit. Before the core circuits (i.e. the $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator, the digital state-machine, and the biasing circuit) are started up, an *n*-bit configuration command word, which can be generated from an FPGA or data-acquisition device (DAQ), is serially written into the shift-register in pace with the external clock *CMD_CLK*. Upon completion, the contents of the shift-register are transferred to the separated registers on the rising edge of *CMD_EN*. The outputs of these registers (*CMD*_{1~n}) are then available for the configuration of the core circuits.



Figure 5-8: (a) Schematic of the configuration shift-register (b) Operation timing diagram

In the prototype chip design, a 22-bit configuration word is defined, which can be divided into 7 segments. The functionality of each segment is listed in Table 5-2.

5-4 Layout

Figure 5-9 shows the layout diagram of the prototype ADC with critical sub-blocks labeled. The active area occupies 0.45mm^2 ($0.6 \text{mm} \times 0.75 \text{mm}$). 28 I/O pads are used, in which 13 are digital, 13 are analog and 2 are metal pads without ESD protections for the analog output buffers.

Chao Chen

Segment	Bits	Function
1	1~6	Enable or disable the analog output buffers of the output voltages of integrators and zero-crossing detectors.
2	7~8	Choose between the on-chip and off-chip current references for the biasing circuits.
3	9	Enable or disable the on-chip offset generators for the early-threshold detection.
4	$10 \sim 15$	Control the magnitude of the coarse charging current in each integrator with 3-bit dynamic range.
5	$16 \sim 19$	Control the duration time of the preset delay in each integrator with 2-bit dynamic range.
6	20	Switch the $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator between the self-timed and synchronous operation mode.
7	$21 \sim 22$	Control the digital output multiplexer.

Table 5-2: Contents of the 22-Bit Command Word

5-5 Summary

This chapter has provided a top-down review of the implementation details of the prototype chip. Starting from a bird-eye view of the system level design, it has dug into the system by investigating the design of sub-blocks one-by-one. A set of techniques for enhancing the circuit's testability have also been introduced.



A: 1st Integrator B: 2nd Integrator C: Coarse Current Source D: Fine Current Source
E: Switches F1/F2: State-Machine G: Clock Boosters H: Bit-decision Comparator
I: Biasing J: Analog Output Buffer K: Shift-Register

Figure 5-9: Layout of the prototype ADC in $0.16\mu\mathrm{m}$ 1P6M CMOS

CONFIDENTIAL

Chapter 6

Experimental Results

This chapter presents the details of the prototype measurement. The testing of high-resolution ADCs is never an easy job; it's by no means a "black magic" [82] but requires a lot of efforts and knowledge in both hardware and software design. As such, a brief introduction to the setup of the measurement system is first given. That is followed by a presentation of measurement results about the commonly concerned specifications of incremental ADCs, such as resolution, linearity, measurement time and power consumption. A performance summary of the prototype chip is given at the end.

6-1 Measurement Setup

An overview of the measurement setup is presented in Figure 6-1. The kernel of the measurement system is a National Instrumentation USB-6259 M-series data-acquisition device (DAQ), which is controlled by PC-based Labview and the associated DAQ software. It governs the initialization of each one-shot conversion, the configuration of the 22-bit on-chip shift-register (Section 5-3) and the capture of the self-timed bitstream. Besides, the decimation of the bitstream is processed using an embedded C-program in Labview.

An Altera Cyclone-IV E-series FPGA (EP4CE22E22C6) is employed to implement the incremental cycle-counting, as well as non-timing-critical parts of the asynchronous statemachine and a watch dog timer which is able to reset the self-timed ADC in fault conditions. It also performs as a logic buffer between the TTL-level digital I/O ports of the DAQ [83] and the 1V I/O pins of the prototype chip¹. To ensure the robustness of the inter-chip data communication, the FPGA is implemented together with the prototype ADC on a custom-designed testboard. The details of the testboard design are described in Appendix A.

The DC input voltage for the prototype ADC is generated by using a precision, lownoise current flowing through an on-board resistor (or I-V converter). This current is derived

¹Cyclone-IV E-series FPGA supports multiple I/O supply voltages for different I/O banks, ranging from 1.2V to 3.3V [84][85]. The rest of the logic level difference is bridged by a set of commercial bidirectional voltage translators.



Figure 6-1: Experimental Setup

from a Keithley-2400 precision current source meter, which can either generate or measure back a constant current with extremely low noise spectral density. The set-up of the output current magnitude and the read-out of the measured data can both be performed in Labview via a General Purpose Interface Bus (GPIB). This feature facilitates the automation of the linearity test (see the next section).

Furthermore, the ADC reference voltages, including the the modulator feedback references (V_{refp} , V_{refn}) and the common-mode voltage (V_{CM}), are all generated using on-board potentiometers, analog buffers and a low-noise regulator, as also depicted in Figure 6-1.

6-2 Measurement Results

This section presents the measurement results of the prototype ADC. Figure 6-2 shows a die micrograph with key areas identified.

6-2-1 Bitstream FFT

Figure 6-3 shows an FFT of the measured bitstream with a Kaiser window applied. As expected, a second-order noise-shaping is clearly shown in the plot.

Chao Chen

CONFIDENTIAL



Figure 6-2: Die microphotograph with identifications of key areas

Note that due to the self-timed nature, the ADC does not have any fixed sampling frequency. As a result, the horizontal axis of the FFT plot is defined as the normalized frequency with respect to the average sampling frequency at the test input, which is given by

$$\mathcal{F}_{\text{average}} = \frac{M}{T_{\text{conv}}} \tag{6-1}$$

where M is the number of incremental cycles and $T_{\rm conv}$ is the corresponding conversion time.

6-2-2 Resolution

The derivation of ADC resolution was based on the measurement of the input-referred RMS noise. The latter was determined by performing 1000 conversions at a single input voltage and calculating the sample-to-sample standard deviation of the decimated outputs. As such, the resolution of the incremental ADC can be defined as follows:

Resolution(bits) =
$$\left(20 \cdot \log \frac{\text{Stable Input Range}}{\delta_{\text{rms}}} - 1.76\right) / 6.02$$
 (6-2)

where $\delta_{\rm rms}$ is the standard deviation of the decimated outputs.

Figure 6-4 shows the measured resolution of the ADC as a function of the number of incremental cycles M used to obtain a single decimated output. At M = 500, the ADC achieves a resolution of 14.8 bits, which corresponds to an input-referred RMS noise of 19.9μ V with



Figure 6-3: Measured FFT of 2^{16} -point bitstream with Kaiser window (frequency normalized to the average sampling frequency 750kHz).



Figure 6-4: Measured ADC Resolution as a function of the number of cycles M.

Chao Chen

CONFIDENTIAL

respect to a stable input range of 0.7V. For shorter conversions (M < 500), it is quantizationnoise limited², while above (M > 500) it is thermal-noise limited.

6-2-3 Linearity

The linearity measurement was performed by sweeping the DC-input signal across the stable input range and recording the decimated outputs. The ADC's integral nonlinearity (INL) [67] can then be obtained by calculating the point-to-point deviation between the decimated outputs and the first-order polynomial fitting curve.

In practical operation, the imperfections of the experimental equipments and all kinds of environmental interference can ruin the measured linearity. As countermeasures to these problems, several engineering approaches were utilized:

- Take multiple samples at each input voltage step and average the decimated outputs, thus minimizing the disturbance of noise on the measured data;
- Measure back the generated DC input voltage using a precision analog volt meter at each input step. In this way, the precision analog meter performs as a reference ADC, whose conversion results can be used to calibrate the inherent non-linearity of the input voltage ramp. The Keithley-2400 source meter is a perfectly adequate instrument for this task;
- To avoid picking-up undesired low-frequency frequency components, the time-interval between two adjacent ADC conversions is minimized. Moreover, the measure-back operation is intervoven with the ADC conversions for the same reason.

Figure 6-5 plots the measured INL of the prototype ADC, which is within -0.6 LSB to 0.4LSB with respect to 14-bit output codes. This result well demonstrates the effectiveness of the CLS technique and the associated design choices.

Figure 6-5 also shows the conversion time as a function of the DC input voltage, which is less than 0.75ms. Due to the self-timed nature of the ADC, the charge-transfer times and hence the duration of the clock phases and the total conversion time are slightly signal dependent.

6-2-4 Performance Summary

Table 6-1 summaries the performance of the prototype ADC. To quantify the energy-efficiency and facilitate the comparison with other ADCs, two types of figures of merit (FOM) are widely used in the open literature. The one we have presented in previous chapters is

$$FOM_1 = \frac{Power}{2 \cdot Bandwidth \cdot 2^{ENOB}}$$
(6-3)

where ENOB (bits) is associated with the Signal-to-noise and distortion ratio (SNDR) (dB):

$$ENOB = (SNDR - 1.76)/6.02$$
 (6-4)

²According to (4-9), the quantization noise of a second-order incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC is inversely proportional to M^2 , which is line with the measured result when M < 500.



Figure 6-5: Measured INL and conversion time as function of input voltage

Expression (6-3) was first proposed by Walden in [86] and [87], thereby it is also referred to as "Walden FOM" [88]. It is based on the assumption that the ADC energy consumption increases by 2 times per bit of ENOB, which is derived from empirical facts in medium-resolution (SNDR < 70dB) ADCs [88].

The other type of FOM was suggested by Schreier in [58], being

$$FOM_2 = DR + 10 \cdot \log\left(\frac{Bandwidth}{Power}\right)$$
(6-5)

where DR is the dynamic range in dB. In contrast to the Walden FOM, the Schreier FOM assumes that the ADC energy consumption increases by 4 times per bit of DR, while the impact of distortions are not taken into account. It is particularly suited for use in evaluating high-resolution ADCs, in which the conversion resolution is dominated by the thermal noise [88].

For the evaluation of incremental ADCs, (6-3) and (6-5) can both be followed, except that the nyquist-rate bandwidth should be equivalently transformed to the inverse of the conversion time. Hence we have the following definitions:

$$FOM_W = \frac{Power \cdot T_{conv}}{2^{(SNR-1.76)/6.02}}$$
(6-6)

Chao Chen

CONFIDENTIAL
Specification	Performance
Technology	NXP $0.16\mu m$ 1P6M CMOS
Active Chip Area (mm^2)	0.45
Supply Voltage (V)	1
Supply Current (μA)	Analog: 10 Digital: 9.8
Conversion Time (ms)	< 0.75
Stable Input Range (V)	$0.15 \ldots 0.85$
Input-Referred RMS Noise (μV)	19.9
INL (LSB)	-0.6 0.4^{\dagger}
$FOM_W (pJ/conversion-step)$	1.48
FOM_S (dB)	157.1

Table 6-1: Performance Summary

[†]Relative to a 14-bit output code.

and

$$FOM_{S} = SNR + 10 \cdot \log \frac{1}{Power \cdot T_{conv}}$$
(6-7)

Here the signal-to-noise ratio takes the place of the dynamic range in (6-5), as $DR \approx SNR$ when the ADC is thermal-noise dominated.

Regarding the DC-input characteristic of incremental ADCs, the definition of SNR is slightly different with the convention:

$$SNR = 20 \cdot \log \frac{\text{Input Range}}{2\sqrt{2} \cdot \text{Input Referred RMS Noise}}$$
(6-8)

where a crest factor correction of $2\sqrt{2}$ is included to enable a fair comparison with generalpurpose ADCs that are characterized using a full-scale sine input.

As has been pointed out in Section 6-2-2, the prototype ADC is actually operating on the boundary of thermal-noise and quantization-noise dominated regions. As such, both Walden FOM and Schreier are presented in Table 6-1. It results in a Walden FOM of 1.48pJ/conversion-step and a Schreier FOM of 157.1dB. This energy-efficiency is comparable with the best (non-self-timed) $\Delta\Sigma$ modulators employing comparable zero-crossing-based circuits ([24] and [43] in Table 2-2), while it achieves a higher linearity.

6-3 Summary

The measurement details of the self-timed incremental ADC prototype are described in this chapter. The correctness and effectiveness of the circuit topologies discussed in previous chapters got fully tested and verified. It was proved that the self-timed timing methodology can be applied to the implementation of high-resolution and energy-efficient incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs. Operating without external clocks, the prototype ADC achieves a 14-bit linearity

Master of Science Thesis

and a 14.8-bit resolution with 500 cycles, while only consuming 19.8μ A from a 1V supply. Such a performance, together with the clock-less feature, makes the self-timed incremental ADC an attractive candidate for analog-to-digital conversions in energy-constrained sensing applications.

Chapter 7

Conclusion

7-1 Thesis Contribution

A clock-free self-timed incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADC targeted for energy-constrained sensor applications has been proposed in this thesis. This self-timed feature is achieved by taking advantage of a zero-crossing based switched-capacitor $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator and entrusting its timing control to an asynchronous state-machine. The elimination of dedicated external clocks can not only reduce the complexity of the A/D interface, but also brings benefits to the energy efficiency.

As a proof-of-concept, a prototype ADC has been implemented in a 0.16μ m CMOS process and achieves expected performance. A set of advanced circuit techniques are involved and have been verified in silicon as well. With this result, we successfully demonstrate that:

• The mixed-signal self-timed approach is suitable for the design of $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs.

By employing zero-crossing based circuits to implement the discrete-time integrators in $\Delta\Sigma$ loop-filters, the completion of the charge-transfer process can be detected by the zero-crossing detectors. This feature can be used to trigger the transitions between clock phases, and on that basis, a self-timed two-state cycling in the timing logic can be readily realized via proper logic design.

• Zero-crossing based circuits are adequate for the implementation of incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs.

Incremental $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs are specifically designed for DC sensing applications which require high absolute accuracy of conversions, including high linearity, low offset and high resolution. The related performance of zero-crossing based $\Delta\Sigma$ ADCs in previously reported cases, however, is far from satisfying these requirements. The prototype ADC shown in this thesis alters this situation by exhibiting a 14-bit performance in both linearity and resolution, which is better than all the prior designs. It proves the feasibility of applying the zero-crossing based circuit technique to the implementation of high-performance incremental ADCs.

• An inverter-based zero-crossing detector is feasible for ZCB integrators.

The CMOS inverter is attracting more and more attention from analog circuit designers, owing to its amenability to low-voltage operation and the doubled current-efficiency. In this thesis, an inverter-based zero-crossing detector is used to further improve the ADC's energy-efficiency, which also extends the application scope of inverter-based analog circuits. Being operating in a non-steady-state fashion, the inherent dynamic biasing capacity of the inverter-based ZCD further reduces unnecessary energy-dissipation during the charge-transfer process, which is an extra advantage of this technique.

• The correlated level shifting technique is a valid solution for addressing the linearity problem of ZCB integrators.

The main performance bottleneck of ZCB integrators is the non-linearity caused by ramp-rate variations of the current sources. As a countermeasure, the correlated level shifting technique is applied in the prototype design to boost the equivalent output impedance of current sources, thus improving the charge-transfer linearity. With the effectiveness successfully proved by the measurement result, the CLS technique is expected to be widely adopted in future applications of ZCB circuits.

Supported by all the above achievements, we have reasons to believe that the self-timed incremental ADC is a promising concept for future event-driven sensing and instrumentation applications.

7-2 Future Work

Beyond the prototype chip, the proposed self-timed incremental ADC could be further improved by means of future work at both system and circuit level. A summary of several potential improvements is provided below.

- While this thesis presents a single-ended second-order ADC as a proof-of-concept, the self-timed concept could be readily extended to differential and higher-order loop-filter topologies. In that case, special attention should be paid to the local-synchronization between the differential branches and different stages which operate in the same phase.
- The offset resulting from the finite response time of zero-crossing detectors is not taken into account in the prototype design. In future differential implementations, this deficiency can be made up by introducing choppers into the gated current sources, which dynamically exchange the charging current directions thus removing the overshoot-induced offset. The flicker noise generated from the current source can also be suppressed by the chopping operation.
- The self-timed incremental ADC can be readily applied to the implementation of eventdriven sensor interfaces, e.g. for temperature and humidity sensors. In these situations, a specific start-up module should be implemented at the sensor front-end to determine when to kick off the self-timed conversions.

• While the prototype chip is fabricated in a 0.16μ m CMOS process with a 1V supply, it is definitely feasible to implement the self-timed incremental ADC using a more advanced technology with smaller feature size and an even lower supply voltage. This is thanks to the fact that both ZCB circuits and inverter-based ZCDs possess the amenability to technology scaling and low-supply operation.

Appendix A

Testboard Design

A custom 4-layer printed circuit board (PCB) is designed to assist the measurement of the prototype chip. It has the following functions:

- Deliver the power supply, input voltage and the associated reference voltages for the prototype ADC;
- Present a hardware platform for the automatic control of the measurement process, e.g. the start-up configuration of the prototype chip;
- Facilitate the capture of the self-timed bitstream.

Figure A-1 shows the layout and components of the testboard. Its "brain" is a Cyclone-IV E-series 144-pin FPGA, which can be configured using a JTAG interface. A +5V DC supply generated by an Agilent E3620A dual-output DC source has been used as the power supply of the whole testboard. It is converted to multiple DC levels (3.3V, 2.5V, 1V) via a set of LDOs to provide power for different modules. Moreover, in order to bridge the logic level difference between the prototype chip and the TTL-level DAQ I/O pins, a row of bidirectional voltage translators have also been implemented on the board.



Figure A-1: Testboard Layout and Components.

Bibliography

- S. Ali, S. Tanner, and P. A. Farine, "A Novel 1V, 24μW, Delta-Sigma Modulator Using Amplifier & Comparator Based Switched-Capacitor Technique with 10-kHz Bandwidth and 64dB SNDR," in *IEEE International Conference on Electronics, Circuits and Sys*tems (ICECS), pp. 1124 – 1127, 2010.
- [2] B. P. Hershberg, S. T. Weaver, and U.-K. Moon, "A 1.4V Signal Swing Hybrid CLS-Opamp/ZCBC Pipelined ADC Using a 300mV Output Swing Opamp," in *IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference (ISSCC)*, pp. 302 – 303, 2010.
- [3] B. J. Hosticka, "Dynamic CMOS Amplifiers," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. SC-15, October 1980.
- [4] F. Krummenacher, "Class AB CMOS Amplifier for Micropower SC Filters," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 17, February 1981.
- [5] F. Krummenacher, "Micropower Switched Capacitor Biquadratic Cell," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. SC-17, June 1982.
- [6] R. H. van Veldhoven, R. Rutten, and L. J. Breems, "An Inverter-Based Hybrid ΣΔ Modulator," in *IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference (ISSCC)*, pp. 492 – 493, 2008.
- [7] Y. Chae and G. Han, "Low Votlage, Low Power, Inverter-Based Switched-Capacitor Delta-Sigma Modulator," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 44, pp. 458 – 472, February 2009.
- [8] J. Márkus, J. Silva, and G. C. Temes, "Theory and Application of Incremental ΔΣ Converters," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems-I: Regular Papers*, vol. 51, pp. 678–690, April 2004.
- [9] B. Schell and Y. Tsividis, "A Low Power Tunable Delay Element Suitable for Asynchronous Delays of Burst Information," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 43, May 2008.

- [10] T. B. Cho and P. R. Gray, "A 10 b, 20 Msample/s, 35 mW Pipeline A/D Converter," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 30, March 1995.
- [11] J. Márkus, Higher-order Incremental Delta-Sigma Analog-to-Digital Converters. Ph.D. Thesis, Budapest University of Technology and Economics, Budapest, Hungrary, 2005.
- [12] V. Quiquempoix, P. Deval, A. Barreto, G. Bellini, J. Márkus, J. Silva, and G. C. Temes, "A Low-Power 22-bit Incremental ADC," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 41, pp. 1562 – 1571, November 2006.
- [13] E. Roza, "Analog-to-digital conversion via duty-cycle modulation," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems-II:Analog and Digital Signal Processing*, vol. 44, pp. 907 914, November 1997.
- [14] S. Ouzounov, E. Roza, J. A. Hegt, G. van der Weide, and A. van Roermund, "Design of High-Performance Asynchronous Sigma Delta Modulator with a Binary Quantizer with Hysteresis," in *IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conference (CICC)*, pp. 941 – 944, 2004.
- [15] S. Ouzounov, E. Roza, J. A. Hegt, G. van der Weide, and A. van Roermund, "Analysis and Design of High-Performance Asynchronous Sigma-Delta Modulators With a Binary Quantizer," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 41, pp. 588 – 596, March 2006.
- [16] J. Daniels, W. Dehaene, A. Wiesbauer, and M. Steyaert, "A/D Conversion using an Asynchronous Delta-Sigma Modulator and a Time-to-Digital Converter," in *IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems (ISCAS)*, pp. 1648 – 1651, 2008.
- [17] J. M. Rabaey, A. Chandrakasan, and B. Nikolic, *Digital Integrated Circuits A Design Perspective (2nd Edition)*. Prentice Hall, 2003.
- [18] G. M. Jacobs and R. W. Brodersen, "A Fully Asynchronous Digital Signal Processor Using Self-Timed Circuits," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 25, December 1990.
- [19] S.-W. M. Chen and R. W. Brodersen, "A 6-bit 600-MS/s 5.3-mW Asynchronous ADC in 0.13-μm CMOS," in *IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference (ISSCC)*, pp. 574 – 575, 2006.
- [20] P. Harpe, C. Zhou, X. Wang, G. Dolmans, and H. de Groot, "A 30fJ/Conversion-Step 8b 0-to-10MS/s Asynchronous SAR ADC in 90nm CMOS," in *IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference (ISSCC)*, pp. 388 – 389, 2010.
- [21] J. K. Fiorenza, T. Sepke, P. Holloway, C. G. Sodini, and H.-S. Lee, "Comparator-Based Switched-Capacitor Circuits for Scaled CMOS Technologies," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 41, pp. 2658 – 2668, December 2006.
- [22] L. Brooks and H.-S. Lee, "A Zero-Crossing-Based 8-bit 200MS/s Pipelined ADC," IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 42, pp. 2677 – 2687, December 2007.
- [23] M.-C. Huang and S.-I. Liu, "A Fully Differential Comparator-Based Switched-Capacitor Delta-Sigma Modulator," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems-II:Express Briefs*, vol. 56, pp. 369 – 373, May 2009.

Chao Chen

CONFIDENTIAL

Master of Science Thesis

- [24] T. Musah, S. Kwon, H. Lakdawala, K. Soumyanath, and U.-K. Moon, "A 630μW zero-crossing-based Delta-Sigma ADC using switched-resistor current sources in 45nm CMOS," in *IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conference (CICC)*, pp. 1-4, 2009.
- [25] L. Yao, M. S. J. Steyaert, and W. Sansen, "A 1-V 140-μW 88-dB audio sigma-delta modulator in 90-nm CMOS," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 39, pp. 1809 – 1818, November 2004.
- [26] M. Keskin, U.-K. Moon, and G. C.Temes, "A 1-V 10-MHz clock-rate 13-bit CMOS ΔΣ moduator using unity-gain-reset opamps," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 38, pp. 817 – 824, July 2002.
- [27] H. Yang and R. Sarpeshkar, "A time-based energy-efficient analog-to-digital converter," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 40, pp. 1590–1601, August 2005.
- [28] S. Paul, H.-S. Lee, J. Goodrich, T. Alailima, and D. Santiago, "A Nyquist-rate pipelined oversampling A/D converter," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 34, December 1999.
- [29] T. Sepke, J. K.Fiorenza, C. G.Sodini, P. Holloway, and H.-S. Lee, "Comparator-Based Switced-Capacitor Circuits For Scaled CMOS Technologies," in *IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference (ISSCC)*, pp. 812 – 821, 2006.
- [30] T. Sepke, P. Holloway, C. G. Sodini, and H.-S. Lee, "Noise Analysis for Comparator-Based Circuits," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems-I:Regular Papers*, vol. 56, pp. 541 – 533, March 2009.
- [31] R. Schreier, J. Silva, J. Steensgaard, and G. C. Temes, "Design-Oriented Estimation of Thermal Noise in Switched-Capacitor Circuits," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems-I:Regular Papers*, vol. 52, pp. 2358 – 2368, November 2005.
- [32] J. Chang, A. A. Abidi, and C. R. Viswanathan, "Flicker Noise in CMOS Transistors from Subthreshold to Strong Inversion at Various Temperatures," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 41, pp. 1965 – 1971, November 1994.
- [33] "Flicker Noise." http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Flicker_noise, September 2012.
- [34] C. C. Enz and G. C. Temes, "Circuit Techniques for Reducing the Effects of Op-Amp Imperfections: Autozeroing, Correlated Double Sampling, and Chopper Stabilization," *Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 84, pp. 1584 – 1614, November 1996.
- [35] M. de Jong, "Sub-Poissonian Shot Noise," Physics World, p. 22, August 1996.
- [36] "Shot noise." http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Shot_noise, August 2012.
- [37] B. Razavi, Design of Analog CMOS Integrated Circuits. Boston: McGraw-Hill, 2001.
- [38] M. A. P. Pertijs and J. H. Huijsing, Precision Temperature Sensors in CMOS Technology Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer, 2006.
- [39] D. A. Neamen, Semiconductor Physics and Devices Basic Principles (3rd Edition). New York: McGraw-Hill, 2003.

- [40] "Channel length modulation." http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Channel_length_ modulation, August 2012.
- [41] L. Brooks and H.-S. Lee, "A 12b, 50MS/s, Fully Differential Zero-Crossing Based Pipelined ADC," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 44, pp. 3329 – 3343, December 2009.
- [42] S. Lee, A. P. Chandrakasan, and H.-S. Lee, "A 12b 5-to-50MS/s 0.5-to-1V Voltage Scalable Zero-Crossing Based Pipelined ADC," in *Proceedings of the ESSCIRC (ESSCIRC)*, pp. 355 – 358, 2011.
- [43] K.Cornelissens and M.Steyaert, "Comparator-Based Switched-Capacitor Delta-Sigma A/D Converters," Advanced Analog Circuit Design (AACD), pp. 155 – 175, September 2010.
- [44] W.-M. Lin, C.-F. Lin, and S.-I. Liu, "A CBSC second-order sigma-delta modulator in 3μm LTPS-TFT technology," in *IEEE Asian Solid-State Circuits Conference (A-SSCC)*, pp. 133 – 136, November 2009.
- [45] S. Lee, A Zero-Crossing Based Pipelined Analag-to-Digital Converter with Supply Voltage Scalibility. Master Thesis, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, United States, 2010.
- [46] B. Gregoire and U.-K. Moon, "An Over-60 dB True Rail-to-Rail Performance Using Correlated Level Shifting and an Opamp With Only 30 dB Loop Gain," *IEEE Journal* of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 43, pp. 2620 – 2630, December 2008.
- [47] H.Venkatram, B.Hershberg, and U-K.Moon, "Asynchronous CLS for Zero Crossing Based Circuits," in *IEEE International Conference on Electronics, Circirts and Systems* (*ICECS*), pp. 1025 – 1028, 2010.
- [48] W. M. C. Sansen, Analog Design Essentials. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer, 2006.
- [49] CMOS14FLV Design Manual, version 3.06. NXP Semiconductors (Confidential), June 2010.
- [50] J. E. Proesel and L. T. Pileggi, "A 0.6-to-1V Inverter-Based 5-bit Flash ADC in 90nm Digital CMOS," in *IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conference (CICC)*, pp. 153 – 156 , 2008.
- [51] B. Nauta, "A CMOS Transconductance-C Filter Technique for Very High Frequencies," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 27, February 1992.
- [52] A. G.F.Dingwall, "Monolithic Expandable 6 Bit 20 MHz CMOS/SOS A/D Converter," IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. SC-14, December 1979.
- [53] A. Tangel and K. Choi, ""The CMOS Inverter" as a Comparator in ADC Designs," Analog Integrated Circuits and Signal Processing, vol. 39, December 2004.
- [54] V. Quiquempoix, P. Deval, A. Barreto, G. Bellini, J. Márkus, J. Silva, and G. C.Temes, "A Low-Power 22-bit Incremental ADC," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 41, July 2006.

Chao Chen

- [55] R. Wu, Y. Chae, J. H. Huijsing, and K. A. A. Makinwa, "A 20-b ±40-mV Range Read-Out IC With 50-nV Offset and 0.04% Gain Error for Bridge Transducers," IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 47, September 2012.
- [56] Z. Tan, Y. Chae, R. Daamen, A. Humbert, Y. V. Ponomarev, and M. A. P. Pertijs, "A 1.2V 8.3nJ Energy-Efficient CMOS Humidity Sensor for RFID Applications," in IEEE Symposim on VLSI Circuits (VLSI), pp. 24-25, 2012.
- [57] K. Mustafa, "Filtering Techniques: Isolating Analog and Digital Power Supplies in TI's PLL-Based CDC Devices," Application Report, Texas Instruments, p. 2, October 2001.
- [58] S. R. Norsworthy, R. Schreier, and G. C. Temes, *Delta-Sigma Data Converters: Theory*, Design, and Simulation. New York: IEEE Press, 1996.
- [59] R. Schreier and G. C. Temes, Understanding Delta-Sigma Data Converters. Wiley-IEEE Press, November 2004.
- [60] K. Kundert, "Simulating Switched-Capacitor Filters with SpectreRF," The Designer's Guide Community, July 2006.
- [61] G. S. Jovanović and M. K. Stojčev, "Current Starved Delay Element with Symmetric Load," International Journal of Electronics, 2006.
- [62] Z. Yang, L. Yao, and Y. Lian, "A 0.5-V $35-\mu$ W 85-dB DR Double-Sampled $\Delta\Sigma$ Modulator for Audio Applications," IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 47, March 2012.
- [63] J. Robert, G. C. Temes, V. Valencic, R. Dessoulavy, and P. Deval, "A 16-bit Low-Voltage CMOS A/D Converter," IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 22, April 1987.
- [64] J. Márkus, P. Deval, V. Quiquempoix, J. Silva, and G. C. Temes, "Incremental Delta-Sigma Structures for DC Measurement: an Overview (Invited Paper)," in *IEEE Custom* Integrated Circuits Conference (CICC), pp. 411–418, 2006.
- [65] C. Lyden, J. Ryan, C. A. Ugarte, J. Kornblum, and F. M. Yung, "A Single Shot Sigma Delta Analog to Digital Converter For Multiplexed Applications," in IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conference (CICC), pp. 203–206, 1995.
- [66] R. J. van de Plassche, "A Sigma-Delta Modulator as an A/D Converter," *IEEE Trans*actions on Circuits and Systems, vol. 25, pp. 510-514, July 1978.
- [67] M. J. M. Pelgrom, Analog-to-Digital Conversion. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer, 2010.
- [68] J. Robert and P. Deval, "A Second-Order High-Resolution Incremental A/D Converter with Offset and Charge Injection Compensation," IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 23, pp. 736–741, June 1988.
- [69] P. Rombouts, W. D. Wilde, and L. Weyten, "A 13.5-b 1.2-V Micropower Extended Counting A/D Converter," IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, vol. 36, pp. 176-183, June 2001.

- [70] A. Agah, K. Vleugels, P. B. Griffin, M. Ronaghi, J. D. Plummer, and B. A. Wooley, "A High-Resolution Low-Power Incremental ΣΔ ADC With Extended Range for Biosensor Arrays," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 45, pp. 1099–1110, June 2010.
- [71] J. C. Candy, "Decimation for Sigma Delta Modulation," IEEE Transactions on Communications, vol. 34, pp. 72–76, January 1986.
- [72] F. Marvasti, Nonuniform Sampling: Theory and Practice. London: Springer, 2001.
- [73] M. Mishali and Y. C. Eldar, "Blind multiband signal reconstruction: Compressed sensing for analog signals," *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, vol. 57, March 2009.
- [74] B. E. Boser and B. A. Wooley, "The design of sigma-delta modulation analog-to-digital converters," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 23, pp. 1298–1308, December 1988.
- [75] H. Park, K. Nam, D. K. Su, K. Vleugels, and B. A. Wooley, "A 0.7-V 870-μW Digital-Audio CMOS Sigma-Delta Modulator," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 44, April 2009.
- [76] D. E. Muller and W. S. Bartky, "A theory of asynchronous circuits," in Proceedings of an International Symposium on the Theory of Switching, pp. 204–243, 1959.
- [77] "FPGA Compiler II/ FPGA Express Verilog HDL Reference Manual," Synopsys.
- [78] G. M. Yin, F. O. Eynde, and W. Sansen, "A High-Speed CMOS Comparator with 8-b Resolution," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 27, February 1992.
- [79] P. M. Figueiredo and J. C. Vital, "Kickback Noise Reduction Techniques for CMOS Latched Comparators," *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems-II:Express Briefs*, vol. 53, pp. 541 – 545, July 2006.
- [80] M. Kashmiri, Thermal-Diffusivity-Based Freuquecy References in Standard CMOS. Ph.D. Thesis, Delft University of Technology, Delft, the Netherlands, 2012.
- [81] Y. Nakagome, H. Tanaka, E. Kume, Y. Watanabe, T. Kaga, Y. Kawamoto, F. Murai, R. Izawa, D. Hisamoto, T. Kisu, T. Nishida, E. Tekeda, and K. Itoh, "An Experimental 1.5-V 64-Mb DRAM," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 26, April 1991.
- [82] H. Khorramabadi, "ADC Test Setup." EE247 Lecture Slides, UC Berkeley, 2005.
- [83] DAQ M Series User Manual. National Instruments, July 2008.
- [84] Cyclone IV Device Handbook (Volume 1). Altera Corporation, October 2012.
- [85] "AN 447: Interfacing Cyclone III and Cyclone IV Devcies with 3.3/3.0/2.5-V LVT-TL/LVCMOS I/O Systems." Altera Corporation, November 2009.
- [86] R. H. Walden, "Analog-to-Digital Converter Technology Comparison," in Gallium Arsenide Integrated Circuit (GaAs IC) Symposium, pp. 217 – 219, 1994.
- [87] R. H. Walden, "Analog-to-Digital Converter Survey and Analysis," *IEEE Journal on Selected Areas in Communications*, vol. 17, pp. 539–550, April 1999.

CONFIDENTIAL

Master of Science Thesis

[88] B. Murmann, "Energy Limits in A/D Converters." Slides of Lecture in University of Twente, March 2012.

Glossary

List of Acronyms

ADC	analog-to-digital converter
ADSM	asynchronous $\Delta\Sigma$ modulator
SC	switched-capacitor
STF	signal transfer function
NTF	noise transfer function
SNR	signal-to-noise ratio
TDC	time-to-digital converter
ΡVΤ	process, supply voltage and temperature
MSB	most significant bit
LSB	least significant bit
RMS	root-mean-square
PSD	power spectral density
AZ	auto-zeroing
ZCB	zero-crossing based
CLS	correlated level shifting
PSRR	power supply rejection ratio
OSR	oversampling ratio
PSS	periodical steady-state
PXF	periodical transfer function

Master of Science Thesis

SA	succesive-approxiamation
ENOB	effective number of bits
SNDR	Signal-to-noise and distortion ratio
Col	cascade of integrators
FIR	finite impulse response
FPGA	field-programmable gate array
DEM	dynamic element matching
LDO	low-dropout regulators
ASM	asynchronous state machine
DFT	design-for-testability
DAQ	data-acquisition device
ESD	electrostatic discharge
GPIB	General Purpose Interface Bus
INL	integral nonlinearity
РСВ	printed circuit board